
 

 

Executive Board 
 

Thursday, 13 August 2020 
Time: 6.00 pm 

Virtual Meeting 
 

Join Here 
 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

Information may be provided by each Executive Member relating to their 
area of responsibility 
 
1.   Welcome and Apologies  

 
2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 9th July 2020  

 Minutes July 2020 3 - 10 

 
3.   Declarations of Interest  

 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FORM 11 

 
4.   Equality Implications  

 The Chair will ask Members to confirm that they have 
considered and understood any Equality Impact 
Assessments associated with reports on this agenda ahead 
of making any decisions. 
 

 

5.   Public Forum  

 To receive written questions or statements submitted by 
members of the public no later than 4pm on the day prior to 
the meeting. 
 

 

6.   Questions by Non-Executive Members  

 To receive written questions submitted by Non-Executive 
Members no later than 4pm on the day prior to the meeting. 
 

 

7.   Youth MPs Update  

 To receive an update from the Youth MPs along with any 
issues they would like to raise. 
 

 

8.   Executive Member Reports  

 Verbal updates may be given by each Executive Member. 
 

 

Leader   

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OWZkOWMxNjEtNzdkNC00ZTZjLTg3OTMtYzE1NjA5ZTQxYTJk%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22dcfb3fe3-e9c9-423a-a1da-148a4b3a2e60%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2269c7acd0-b51d-4cc3-a771-6977a69570c5%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


 

 

 
Adult Services and Prevention  
 

 

Children, Young People and Education  
 

 

Environmental Services  
 

 

Public Health and Wellbeing  
 

 

8.1   Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
Management Plan 

 

 Blackburn with Darwen Covid-19 Plan 
Appendix 1- Local Outbreak Management Plan 

12 - 48 

 
Digital and Customer Services  
 

 

Growth and Development  
 

 

Finance and Governance  
 

 

8.2   Corporate Capital Budget and Balance Sheet Monitoring 
Report 2020/21 - Quarter 1 

 

 Capital Monitoring 2020-21 Q1 
Copy of QTR 1 2020-21 Capital Monitoring Appendix 1 
Copy of QTR 1 2020-21 Capital Monitoring Appendix 2 

49 - 58 

 
9.   Corporate Issues  

 
10.   Matters referred to the Executive Board  

 
 
PART 2 – THE PRESS AND PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED DURING 
CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS 
 
 

Date Published: Wednesday, 05 August 2020  
Denise Park, Chief Executive 

 



Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCILLOR: PORTFOLIO: 
Councillor Mustafa Desai 
Councillor Julie Gunn 

Adult Services and Prevention 
Children, Young People and Education 

Councillor Mohammed Khan OBE Leader of the Council 
Councillor Quesir Mahmood Digital and Customer Services 
Councillor Vicky McGurk Finance and Governance 
Councillor Phil Riley Growth and Development 
Councillor Jim Smith Environmental Services 
Councillor Damian Talbot Public Health and Wellbeing 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: NON-PORTFOLIO: 
Councillor John Slater Leader of the Conservative Group 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
Khalid Omar 
Muhammad Bapu 

 
Deputy Youth MP 
Deputy Youth MP 

  
 

 Item Action 
1   Welcome and Apologies 

 
The Chair read the opening statement explaining that this was a 
virtual meeting. 
 
Apologies had been received from Zara Hayat, the Youth MP. 
 

 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 11th June 2020 were agreed 
as a correct record, subject to the inclusion of Councillor John 
Slater voting against the recommendations in Minute No.8.4 – 
Masterplan - Bank Hey. 
 

 
 

Agreed 

3   Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest submitted. 
 

 

4   Equality Implications 
 
The Chair asked Members to confirm that they had considered 
and understood any Equality Impact Assessments associated with 
reports on the agenda ahead of making any decisions. 
 
 

 
 

Confirmed 

5   Public Forum 
 
In accordance with Part 4 of the Executive Board Procedure Rules 
for questions/statements by members of the public, the following 
questions/statements have been received, details of which are set 
out below. As this was a Virtual Meeting the question was read out 
by the Director of HR, Legal and Governance. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

 
 
 

Name of Person 
asking the 
Question  

Subject Area Response by 

Jon Baldwin Overspend on 
Newfield ASD. 

Councillor Vicky McGurk, 
Executive Member for 
Finance and Governance. 

 
Councillor Vicky McGurk provided a response to the question, 
which it was agreed would be e-mailed to Mr Baldwin. 
 
 

6   Questions by Non-Executive Members 
 
No Questions had been submitted by Non-Executive Members. 
 

 

7   Youth MPs Update 
 
The Youth MPS updated the Executive Board on recent activities 
and events including: 
 

 Over the past months, the Youth Forum had been working 

to produce positive resources for young people across the 

Borough. As the lockdown restrictions ease the Forum were 

planning to try to be more involved by assisting in cleaning 

up the local community by spending a couple hours’ litter 

picking. 

 Muhammad would be part of the judging panel for the great 

Big Pan Challenge that took place last month. In the coming 

months the mental health comic that he been working on 

would be completed and distributed. Muhammad had also 

recently become Witton Park’s Head boy and was looking 

forward to continuing work as Head boy and Deputy Youth 

MP. 

 Khalid had been talking to teenagers through social media 

and calls and giving the advice on mental health and 

governmental guidelines and where there could access 

more help. He had also been discussing with multiple 

charities that helped young women and men throughout the 

UK how awareness could be raised in the Borough on 

social issues like forced and arranged marriages, and would 

be working locally with the Police on this in the coming 

months. 

Muhammad asked the following question, which he had submitted 
in advance: What steps are being taken to ensure young people’s 
mental wellbeing is supported coming out of lockdown? 

 
The Leader, Councillor Mohammed Khan, and Executive Member 

 

Page 4



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

for Children, Young People and Education, Julie Gunn outlined the 
support and help available, which included Kooth, an online 
counselling and support service for young people, and during the 
pandemic the Council had been working closely with ELCAS 
regarding the mental health trailblazer to support young people in 
secondary school and to make sure that key transitions and 
support young people were available. The CCG were also being 
asked to assure the Children’s Safeguarding Assurance 
Partnership about mental health support after the lockdown. 
 

8   Executive Member Reports 
 

 

 
8.1  Report of Ofsted Focussed Visit 

 
A report was submitted, which set out the findings of the recent 
inspection by Ofsted as part of the Inspection of Local Authorities 
Children’s Services (ILACS) framework. The short inspection was 
led by Inspector – Paula Thompson Jones, who was supported by 
Inspector – Kathryn Grindrod. 
 
The Focused Visit was announced three working days before the 
fieldwork of the inspection took place. The Lead Inspector required 
a broad range of information to be shared within one working day 
of the notification, and also asked for a range of audit activity to be 
submitted within two working days of the notification. The theme of 
the inspection was– Children in our Care – with a specific focus on 
children who had recently become looked after.  
 
The report advised of the positive findings, whilst it was also 
reported that there were two key areas for improvement – where 
children are at risk of neglect, and social workers caseloads were 
too high, particularly for those in their first year of practice. The 
report set out the actions that would be taken to address the key 
areas of improvement. 
 
RESOLVED -  
 
That the Executive Board note the contents of this report and to 
agree to the actions taken by the Service to ensure that we 
continue to meet the needs of children and families who require a 
social work service.  
 
Environmental Services Update 
 
Councillor Jim Smith verbally reported that the delivery of new 
Blue Bins was progressing well, and the service was looking 
forward to them coming into use in August. 
 
Public Health and Wellbeing Update 
 
Councillor Damian Talbot verbally reported that the Borough’s 
pools and gyms would be re-opening on 25th July, and Museum 
and libraries re-openings were underway. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 

Page 5



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

 
8.2 Healthy Weight Declaration - 3 Years On 

 
Members were reminded that the Council became the first in the 
country to sign a joint Local Authority Declaration on Healthy 
Weight in 2017. The Declaration, which required senior level 
commitment, encapsulated a vision to promote healthy weight and 
to improve the health and wellbeing of those who live, work and go 
to school in Blackburn with Darwen. 
 
Overseen by the Eat Well Move More Shape Up strategic steering 
group, there had been significant progress against a number of the 
local commitments.  Whilst progress had been slower against the 
generic commitments in the Declaration there were a number of 
upcoming opportunities to embed healthy weight as a priority 
including the development of the Local Plan and the Department 
for Transport’s emergency funding to promote walking and cycling.  

 

In 2019, Blackburn with Darwen Public Health commissioned Food 
Active to carry out an independent evaluation of the Healthy 
Weight Declaration. The subsequent report highlighted the need 
for continued momentum, system wide working where healthy 
weight was seen as everyone’s business and working with 
communities and Elected Members to drive the Declaration 
forwards using clear and consistent messages. There was also a 
further recommendation to review and refresh the local 
commitments beyond 2020. In light of the recent evidence of the 
impact of obesity and diabetes on COVID-19 outcomes this was 
an opportune time to revisit and revise the local commitments in 
the Declaration to highlight the importance of a healthy weight for 
health and wellbeing, encouraging and supporting a resilient food 
system and active travel for all. 
 
RESOLVED - That the Executive Board: 

 Notes the content of the report. 

 Notes to progress made to date and the key issues 
impacting on effective implementation of the commitments 
within the Declaration. 

 Notes the content of and recommendations in the Local 
Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight Evaluation. 

 Supports the review and refresh of the current Local 
Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight. 

 
 
Digital and Customer Services Update 
 
Councillor Quesir Mahmood verbally reported on the important 
work being undertaken by the Department in supporting 
businesses in the current Covid-19 pandemic, in terms of grant 
applications and also other recent work included developing online 
booking systems for Household Waste Recycling Centres. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  Noted 
  Noted 
 
 
  Noted 
 
  Agreed 
 
 
 
 
 
  Noted 

 Page 6



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

8.3  Statement of Community Involvement 
 
The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) set the policy for 
how Blackburn with Darwen Council’s Planning Service would 
involve local residents, businesses and other key organisations 
and stakeholders in the plan making process and the 
determination of planning applications in the Borough. The Local 
Authority was legally bound to adhere to commitments set out in 
its SCI. The recent impacts of COVID-19 and restrictions imposed 
on business, social integration and travel meant that a review of 
the SCI was now necessary. 
 
SCI’s had to be kept under review at least every five years. 
Blackburn with Darwen last adopted its SCI in May 2018. The 
impact of COVID-19 in terms of restrictions imposed by lockdown 
and social distancing measures had necessitated an earlier review 
than would otherwise be necessary. By approving the attached 
revised SCI the Council could ensure that consultations in the 
future remain in accordance with the adopted SCI and therefore 
legally sound. 
 
RESOLVED -   
 
That the Executive Board: 
 

1. Approves the revised Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) which sets the policy for how the Council consults 
with members of the public and stakeholders in its Planning 
Service. The revised SCI covers any temporary 
arrangements that may be necessary during COVID-19 
restrictions.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 

 
8.4  Covid-19 Finance Report 

 
The Executive Board received a report outlining the financial 
implications for the Council arising from the impact of COVID-19, 
based on the forecast prepared, and assumptions made, in the 
third Financial Management Return submitted to MHCLG on 19th 
June 2020, i.e:  
 

 additional expenditure incurred by the Council in providing a 
response to the crisis across the Borough and  

 loss of income arising due to the cessation/reduction in the 

Council’s various income generating activities, and the 

impact on Council Tax and Business Rates as a 

consequence of the economic downturn 

 

The Council had a statutory requirement to set a balanced budget 
each year and to review its adequacy of reserves.  The report set 
out the potential impacts on the delivery of a balanced budget for 
2020/21 and the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
 
The 2020/21 Budget and MTFS 2020-2023 approved by Finance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

Council in February 2020 set a balanced budget for the year 
based on the assumptions in place at the time. Since that time, the 
COVID-19 pandemic had created a significant shock to the 
economy and resulted in significant unplanned expenditure and 
income losses as set out in the report. 
 
The financial forecast identified a significant risk to the financial 
viability and sustainability of the Council.  The forecast budget gap 
of £19.5 million for 20/21 (based on the third Financial 
Management return to MHCLG) would require the Council to utilise 
not only all of its Unallocated Reserve, but also the Earmarked 
Reserves held for Discretionary purposes, before the end of the 
2020/21 financial year (assuming these could be re-designated to 
address the immediate financial challenge posed); this would still 
leave a budget gap of £4.0 million.  
 
Officers would continue to monitor and estimate the costs and 
savings associated with this over the coming months, in the 
meantime arrangements would be made to scrutinise all existing 
expenditure plans and Executive Members and their Directors 
would work to develop potential savings options for consideration. 
 
In moving the report, Cllr McGurk advised of financial packages 
from the Government that had been recently announced, the detail 
of which was not yet clear, and also referred to an error in the 
Lancashire Telegraph re portfolio underspends, with all but one 
were underspent, not overspent as reported. 
 
Members debated the report and the recent F.O.I request relating 
to the Blackburn Bus Station overspend, and the reasons for the 
overspend were outlined. 
 
RESOLVED - The Executive Board is asked note the financial 
implications arising from the COVID-19 pandemic outlined in the 
report and as included in the third Financial Management Return 
submitted to MHCLG. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Noted 

   
      9.1  Capital Outturn Report – Quarter 4- 2019/2020 

 
Cllr McGurk, in moving the report, referred to the Newfield ASD 
overspend discussed earlier in the meeting under Public 
Questions, and also referred to in the report, and the overspend 
reported relating to the Darwen 3 Day Market scheme. Members 
debated the expenditure on the Darwen 3 Day Market Scheme. 
 
The report set out the overall financial position of the Council in 
respect of the capital programme as at 31st March 2020, 
highlighting key issues and explaining variations at the year end 
with regard to scheme under/overspends and slippage since the 
last report to the Executive Board in February 2020. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 8



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

RESOLVED - The Executive Board is asked; 
 

 to approve the revised capital programme as per Appendix 
1,  

 to approve the variations to the programme shown in 
Appendix 2 

 
 

 
 

Approved  
 

Approved 
 
 

9.2 Disposal of Chapels Park South 
 
A report was submitted, which sought approval to sell 4.7 acres of 
commercial development land at Chapels Park South, Darwen 
(“the Site”), as illustrated on the plan attached at Annex A, to 
Barnfield Blackburn Ltd.  

 

Approval was also sought to increase the Council’s level of 
investment in Barnfield Blackburn Ltd and to authorise the 
appointed Council officers to complete the purchase of the site.  
 
RESOLVED - That the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Notes the site at Chapels Park South is heavily constrained 
with significant abnormals limiting development.  
 
2.2 Notes that Barnfield Construction Ltd submitted the highest 
tender offer for the site following a competitive procurement 
exercise conducted by Council officers. 
 
2.3 Approves the alternative proposal submitted by Barnfield 
Construction Ltd for a subsidiary joint venture company, Barnfield 
Blackburn Ltd, to acquire the Site in lieu of Barnfield Construction 
Ltd. 
 
2.4 Notes the success Barnfield Blackburn Ltd has had with 
securing external funding for the challenging site at the former 
Lower Darwen Paper Mill. It is expected Barnfield Blackburn Ltd 
will be in a position to apply for future infrastructure funding as part 
of any Lancashire economic recovery plan to accelerate delivery. 
 
2.5 Authorises the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
complete the necessary legal formalities in disposing of the Site. 
 
2.6 Approves the increase in investment in Barnfield Blackburn Ltd 
of which the Council is a shareholder and authorise the appointed 
Council officers to complete the necessary legal formalities to 
purchase the Site. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Noted 
 
 

Noted 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 

Noted 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 

 AT THIS STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC WERE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING 
 
 

 
 
 

 
11.1  Disposal of Chapels Park South 

 
 

 Further to the report submitted at Agenda Item 9.1, an additional  Page 9



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 9th July, 2020 

report was submitted, containing commercially sensitive 
information. 
 
RESOLVED - That the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Notes the site at Chapels Park South is heavily constrained 
with significant abnormals limiting development.  
 
2.2 Notes that Barnfield Construction Ltd submitted the highest 
tender offer for the site following a competitive procurement 
exercise conducted by Council officers. 
 
2.3 Approves the alternative proposal submitted by Barnfield 
Construction Ltd for a subsidiary joint venture company, Barnfield 
Blackburn Ltd, to acquire the Site in lieu of Barnfield Construction 
Ltd. 
 
2.4 Notes the success Barnfield Blackburn Ltd has had with 
securing external funding for the challenging site at the former 
Lower Darwen Paper Mill. It is expected Barnfield Blackburn Ltd 
will be in a position to apply for future infrastructure funding as part 
of any Lancashire economic recovery plan to accelerate delivery. 
 
2.5 Authorises the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
complete the necessary legal formalities in disposing of the Site. 
 
2.6 Approves the increase in investment in Barnfield Blackburn Ltd 
of which the Council is a shareholder and authorise the appointed 
Council officers to complete the necessary legal formalities to 
purchase the Site. 
 

 
Signed at a meeting of the Board  

 
on Thursday, 13 August 2020 

 
 
 

(being the ensuing meeting on the Board) 
 

Chair of the meeting at which the Minutes were confirmed 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Noted 
 
 
Noted 
 
 
 
Noted 
 
 
 
 
Noted 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved 
 
 
Approved 

   
 

Page 10



   

D:\blackburn\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\6\4\AI00003463\$ekcnpg3v.doc 

         
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN  

 
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA 

 
 
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other 
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda 
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if 
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest 
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave 
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form 
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the 
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest 
at the appropriate point on the agenda. 

 
 

MEETING:       EXECUTIVE BOARD 
      
DATE:                         13TH AUGUST 2020 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:   
 
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF): 
 
NATURE OF INTEREST: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate) 
 
 
SIGNED :  

 
PRINT NAME:  

 
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer) 

 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



EBD: V4/19 Page 1 of 5 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

REPORT OF:  
 

Executive Member for 
Public Health and Wellbeing 
                  

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Public Health and Wellbeing 
    
 

DATE: 13 August 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO/S 
AFFECTED:  
 

Public Health and Wellbeing                              
 

WARD/S AFFECTED: All                                        

KEY DECISION: YES      NO    

 

SUBJECT:  
Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan 
 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Local authorities have a significant role to play in the identification and management of COVID-19 
outbreaks.  All upper-tier local authorities (UTLAs) were instructed to produce a Local Outbreak 
Management Plan (LOMP) by the end of June 2020. 
 
The aim of the LOMP is to provide a clear plan setting out the way we will work with the new national 
NHS test and trace system to provide a fully co-ordinated approach to contain and manage local 
outbreaks of COVID-19. 
 
The Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Health Protection Board is responsible for the LOMP. It will 
provide oversight on how outbreaks are managed, informed by local intelligence and data. 
 
Blackburn with Darwen Council has been allocated a grant of £1.36 million to fund the implementation 
of the LOMP.   
 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
That the Executive Board: 
a) Approves Issue 1 of the Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan 
b) Monitors implementation and update of the Plan through the Member-led, Outbreak Engagement 
Board. 
 

 

3. BACKGROUND 
On 31 December 2019 the World Health Organisation (WHO) was informed of a cluster of pneumonia 
of unknown cause in Wuhan, China.  A novel coronavirus was identified and the disease it causes 
termed COVID-19.  On 31 January 2020 the first cases were detected in the UK, and on 23 March 
2020 the UK entered lockdown. 
 Page 12

Agenda Item 8.1



EBD: V4/19 Page 2 of 5 

As part of the gradual relaxation of lockdown measures a new NHS test and trace service was 
launched on 28 May 2020 with the aim to help to identify, contain and control coronavirus, reduce the 
spread of the virus and save lives.  
 
Local authorities have a significant role to play in the identification and management of COVID-19 
outbreaks.  All upper-tier local authorities (UTLAs) were instructed to produce a Local Outbreak 
Management Plan (LOMP) by the end of June 2020.  
 
The aim of the LOMP is to provide a clear plan setting out the way we will work with the new national 
NHS test and trace system to provide a fully co-ordinated approach to contain and manage local 
outbreaks of COVID-19. 
 
The Director of Public Health (DPH) has a responsibility to ensure that plans are in place, as well as 
the necessary capacity and capability to quickly deploy resources to the most critical areas, in 
response to COVID-19 outbreaks, to help prevent the spread of the virus. 
 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 
 
a) A national test and trace service has been established which includes 4 key elements: 

 Test 

 Trace 

 Contain 

 Enable 

 

There are 3 tiers to the contact tracing operating model: 

 Tier 3: There are approximately 15,000 national contact tracers who are trained to make initial 

contact and provide advice to those testing positive and their contacts. 

 Tier 2: There are approximately 3,000 health care professionals employed nationally who are 

trained to interview cases and identify contacts. 

 Tier 1: Where Tier 3 and Tier 2 identify a degree of complexity and a ‘context’ for concern, for 

example, a school, health setting, care home or workplace, they will escalate to Tier 1. 

 At Tier 1 the Local Health Protection Teams (LHPT) from Public Health England (PHE) will work 

with local partners, including the Local Authority Public Health Team (LAPHT), to follow up cases 

and agree action to contain the outbreak. 

 

The expectation is that the vast majority of people requesting tests and/or being contacted by the 

NHS Test and Trace Service will be supported through Tiers 2 and 3. 

 

However, for more complex situations, the knowledge and relationships which local partners have will 

be invaluable, working in collaboration with PHE (Tier 1), in providing a timely and appropriate 

response to a local outbreak. 

 

This will include the ability to swiftly mobilise local testing capacity and capability, support local 

intelligence gathering, provide infection control advice and ensure timely communications to the 

public. 

A key risk identified in mid-July, through local analysis by the BwD public health team, is that the 

(national) Tiers 2 and 3 appeared to be completing contact tracing for less than half of confirmed 

cases in a number of local authority areas, including BwD.  From the 20th July we have been working 

with PHE & DHSC nationally and regionally to address this issue locally. 

Page 13



EBD: V4/19 Page 3 of 5 

b) The LOMP focuses on seven themes: 

1. Planning for local outbreaks in care homes and schools 

2. Identifying and planning how to manage other high-risk places, locations and communities of 

interest  

3. Identifying methods for local testing to ensure a swift response that is accessible to the entire 

population.   

4. Contact tracing and infection control capability in complex settings  

5. Integrating national and local data and scenario planning, through the Joint Biosecurity Centre  

6. Supporting vulnerable local people to get help to self-isolate and ensuring services meet the 

needs of diverse communities.  

7. Establishing governance structures, including Member-led Boards to communicate with the 

general public. 

In addition to these seven themes the LOMP considers effective communication with the public and 
local stakeholders 
 
While the plan deals with all local COVID-19 outbreaks, it also identifies and prioritises preventative 
and early intervention measures for key settings, such as care homes and schools, and high-risk 
locations and communities to make sure they are supported. 
 
The Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Health Protection Board is responsible for the LOMP. It will 
provide oversight on how outbreaks are managed, informed by local intelligence and data. 
 
Containing local outbreaks, while led by the local DPH, needs to be a coordinated effort working with 
a range of local, regional and national partners.   
 
The Strategic Co-ordinating Group (SCG) of the Local (Lancashire) Resilience Forum (LRF), which 
covers the local authority areas of Blackburn with Darwen Council,Blackpool Council and Lancashire 
County Council,has responsibility to agree and co-ordinate strategic actions for the purposes of the 
Civil Contingencies Act in managing demand on systems, infrastructures and services and protecting 
human life and welfare.   
 
The SCG provides co-ordination and oversight across larger geographical footprints, however, local 
areas are responsible for determining how these arrangements will work. 
 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
There was a national requirement for Issue 1 of the LOMP to be published by the end of June 2020, 
which was done and the published document is the supporting document appended.   
 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
Blackburn with Darwen Council has been allocated a grant of £1.36 million to fund the implementation 
of the LOMP, the time period covered by this funding has not been stated.  An investment plan to 
establish robust local arrangements is currently being developed. 
 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
The LOMP includes a summary of relevant regulatory powers. The Council has a statutory duty to 
protect the population’s health by responding to and managing communicable disease outbreaks, 
which requires urgent investigation and presents a public health risk.   
The legal context for the Councils’ response to COVID-19 sits within the following Acts:  
  Page 14



EBD: V4/19 Page 4 of 5 

• The Coronavirus Act 2020 
 • Health and Social Care Act 2012 
 • Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 
In addition to the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) 
(England) (No.3) Regulations 2020 that come into force on 18 July  increase Council’s powers to 
tackle local outbreaks.  The Health Protection (Coronavirus Restrictions) (Blackburn with Darwen and 
Luton) Regulations 2020 further empowers the Council to protect against the risk to public health from 
COVID -19.  
 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
While the response to a local outbreak is led by public health, the skills and expertise of the local 
system are required to effectively manage outbreaks.  Public health within Local Government and 
PHE do not have the capacity, skills or expertise alone. 
 
Resources and input will be needed from organisations and professional groups, such as (amongst 
others): 

 Environmental health officers 

 Infection prevention and control 

 Health and social care 

 Communications officers 

 Data and intelligence analysts 

 Health and safety officers 
 
The precise additional resource required locally will be dependent upon the number and complexity of 
COVID-19 outbreaks. 
 
We will expand capacity for the management of outbreaks within the local workforce, in particular for 
those staff directly involved in testing, outbreak and consequence management, provision of 
specialist advice and guidance, contact tracing or provision of support to vulnerable people who are 
instructed to self-isolate. 
 
Where appropriate, shared solutions are being explored to help build capacity and resilience across 
the LRF. 
 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
Please select one of the options below.  Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the 
EIA. 
 
Option 1    Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed. 

 
Option 2    In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated 
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)  
 
Option 3    In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment) 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 

Page 15



EBD: V4/19 Page 5 of 5 

Mandated governance of the LOMP includes a Member-led Outbreak Engagement Board which in 

BwD reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board, membership of which includes all Health and 

Wellbeing Board partners. 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted 
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following 
the meeting. 

 

 

VERSION: 1 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Gifford Kerr 

DATE: 23.07.20 

BACKGROUND 

PAPER: 

LOMP Issue 1, June 2020 

 

Page 16



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Blackburn with Darwen 

 

COVID-19 

Local Outbreak Management Plan 

 
  

Page 17



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

2 

 

Contents 

 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Purpose .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.2 Aims of the plan ................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.3 Background ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

 National Context - NHS Test and Trace ..................................................................................................... 5 

2.1 Test .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.2 Trace .................................................................................................................................................. 5 

2.3 Contain .............................................................................................................................................. 6 

2.4 Enable ................................................................................................................................................ 6 

 Local Outbreak Control Plans .................................................................................................................... 7 

 Summary of Approach: .............................................................................................................................. 8 

 Local Outbreak Control Plans – 7 Key Themes: ......................................................................................... 9 

5.1 Theme 1: Preventing and Managing Outbreaks in Care Homes and Schools: .................................. 9 

5.2 Theme 2: Preventing and managing outbreaks in high-risk settings and communities and other 

settings of interest ....................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.3 Theme 3: Local Testing Capacity ..................................................................................................... 13 

5.4 Theme 4: Contact Tracing in Complex Settings: .............................................................................. 14 

5.5 Theme 5: Data Integration: ............................................................................................................. 14 

5.6 Theme 6: Supporting Vulnerable Local People ............................................................................... 15 

5.7 Theme 7: Local Governance Arrangements: ................................................................................... 16 

 Communications and Engagement .......................................................................................................... 18 

6.1 Key stakeholders.............................................................................................................................. 18 

6.2 Before a local outbreak ................................................................................................................... 18 

6.3 During a local outbreak ................................................................................................................... 18 

6.4 Following an outbreak ..................................................................................................................... 19 

6.5 Channels and tactics ........................................................................................................................ 19 

6.6 Protocols .......................................................................................................................................... 19 

6.7 Evaluation ........................................................................................................................................ 19 

 Local Response Arrangements ................................................................................................................ 20 

7.1 Blackburn with Darwen Outbreak Management Hub ..................................................................... 20 

7.2 Managing an Outbreak - Key Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................ 21 

7.3 Local Outbreak Management Steps ................................................................................................ 22 

 Deploying Appropriate Legislative and Regulatory Powers .................................................................... 24 

 Resources: ............................................................................................................................................... 25 

 Development and Monitoring of the LOMP ........................................................................................ 26 

 

Page 18



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

3 

 

 Introduction 

1.1 Purpose 
This document provides an overview of our approach to preventing and managing outbreaks of COVID-19 in 

Blackburn with Darwen. 

It is a high level summary of the approach to managing and preventing the spread of COVID-19, which will 

allow our residents and communities to live safely with COVID-19 during the current phase of the pandemic.  

The detail of how individual outbreaks in specific settings and circumstances will be managed may be 

referenced but is not described in detail in this document.  Detailed setting-specific outbreak management 

plans have been developed and are available. 

This is a dynamic plan, which will be updated as new national guidance is published. 

1.2 Aims of the plan 
 Prevent the spread of COVID-19 and contain and suppress outbreaks 

 Enable early identification and management of outbreaks 

 Define governance arrangements, roles and responsibilities relating to COVID-19 outbreak 

management 

 Set out communication and engagement arrangements with partner organisations and residents 

 Outline how the impact of outbreaks will be mitigated for residents, including the most vulnerable  

 Outline the approach to surveillance using data and other sources of information to monitor the extent 

and impact of COVID-19 infection across Blackburn with Darwen 

1.3 Background 
On 31 December 2019 the World Health Organisation (WHO) was informed of a cluster of unknown 

pneumonia in Wuhan, China.  On 31 January 2020 the first cases were detected in the UK, and on 23 March 

2020 the UK entered lockdown. 

As part of the gradual relaxation of lockdown measures a new NHS test and trace service was launched on 

28 May 2020 with the aim to help to identify, contain and control coronavirus, reduce the spread of the virus 

and save lives.  

Local authorities have a significant role to play in the identification and management of COVID-19 outbreaks.  

All upper-tier local authorities (UTLAs) have been instructed to produce a Local Outbreak Management Plan 

(LOMP) by the end of June 2020.  

The aim of the LOMP is to provide a clear plan setting out the way we will work with the new national NHS 

test and trace system to provide a fully co-ordinated approach to contain and manage local outbreaks of 

COVID-19. 

The Director of Public Health (DPH) has a responsibility to ensure that plans are in place, as well as the 

necessary capacity and capability to quickly deploy resources to the most critical areas, in response to COVID-

19 outbreaks, to help prevent the spread of the virus. 

While the plan deals with all local COVID-19 outbreaks, it also identifies and prioritises preventative and early 

intervention measures for key settings, such as care homes and schools, and high-risk locations and 

communities to make sure they are supported. 

Containing local outbreaks, while led by the local DPH, needs to be a coordinated effort working with a range 

of local, regional and national partners.   

 

 
Page 19



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

4 

 

The Strategic Co-ordinating Group (SCG) of the Local (Lancashire) Resilience Forum (LRF), which covers the 

local authority areas of Blackburn with Darwen Council,Blackpool Council and Lancashire County Council,has 

responsibility to agree and co-ordinate strategic actions for the purposes of the Civil Contingencies Act in 

managing demand on systems, infrastructures and services and protecting human life and welfare.   

The SCG provides co-ordination and oversight across larger geographical footprints, however, local areas are 

responsible for determining how these arrangements will work. 

The Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Health Protection Board is responsible for the LOMP. It will provide 

oversight on how outbreaks are managed, informed by local information, clinical data and scientific 

modelling. 

 

Page 20



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

5 

 

 National Context - NHS Test and Trace 
The NHS test and trace service has been set up with 3 primary goals: 

 To ensure that anyone who develops symptoms of coronavirus can quickly be tested to find out if they 

have the virus 

 To provide a targeted asymptomatic testing programme for NHS and social care staff and care home 

residents 

 To help trace close recent contacts of anyone who has tested positive for coronavirus 

The NHS test and trace service includes 4 key elements: 

 Test 

 Trace 

 Contain 

 Enable 

2.1 Test 
Anyone in England who has symptoms of coronavirus (a high temperature, a new, continuous cough, or a 
loss or change to your sense of smell or taste) are strongly advised to get tested for COVID 19 as soon as 
possible.  This can be arranged by going to the NHS website or by calling 119.   

Plans are also in place for specific testing for care home residents and staff and for outbreaks 

2.2 Trace 
When someone tests positive for coronavirus the NHS test and trace service will trace contacts of the positive 

case. 

A ‘contact’ means a person who has been in close contact with someone who has tested positive for 

coronavirus.  A contact may or may not live with them.  A person is infectious for the 48 hours before they 

developed symptoms until 7 days after developing symptoms. 

Close contact means: 

 having face-to-face contact with someone (less than 1 metre away) 

 spending more than 15 minutes within 2 metres of someone 

 travelling in a car or other small vehicle with someone (even on a short journey) or close to them on a 

plane 

The NHS test and trace service will assess, and if it is necessary, inform the close contact that they must self-

isolate at home to help stop the spread of the virus. 

There are 3 tiers to the contact tracing operating model with each tier being bridged by a team leader 

function to ensure information flows and cases are escalated and de-escalated accordingly: 

Tier 3: There are approximately 15,000 national contact tracers who are trained to make initial contact 

and provide advice to those testing positive and their contacts. 

Tier 2: There are approximately 3,000 health care professionals employed nationally who are trained to 

interview cases and identify contacts. 

Tier 1: Where tier 3 and tier 2 identify a degree of complexity and a ‘context’ for concern, for example, a 

school, health setting, care home or workplace, they will escalate to tier 1. 

At Tier 1 the Local Health Protection Teams (LHPT) from Public Health England (PHE) will work with local 

partners, including Local Authority Public Health Team (LAPHT), to follow up cases and agree action to contain 

the outbreak. 

Page 21

https://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-test
tel:119


  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

6 

 

The expectation is that the vast majority of people requesting tests and/or being contacted by the NHS Test 

and Trace Service will be supported through Tiers 2 and 3. 

However, for more complex situations, the knowledge and relationships which local partners have will be 

invaluable, working in collaboration with PHE (Tier 1), in providing a timely and appropriate response to a 

local outbreak. 

This will include the ability to swiftly mobilise local testing capacity and capability, support local intelligence 

gathering, provide infection control advice and ensure timely communications to the public. 

2.3 Contain 
Early identification of an outbreak, which is generally but not always defined as ‘two or more cases connected 

in time to a specific place’ (not a household), is critical to help contain the outbreak. 

For outbreaks or situations of concern an incident management team (IMT) will be convened with 

representation from all relevant partners.  In some circumstances, it will be necessary to create an Outbreak 

Control Team (OCT) chaired by a member of the LHPT or by a consultant in public health from the Local 

Authority Public Health Team.  The main aim of the OCT is to contain the outbreak and minimise any risks. 

2.4 Enable 
The gathering of data and intelligence and national and international research is critical to inform national 

policy and local action.  We will ensure that as and when new research and policy is produced the 

plan is updated accordingly. 

Appendix 1 outlines detailed definitions for COVID-19. 

 

Page 22



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

7 

 

 Local Outbreak Control Plans 
Building on existing plans, all UTLAs are required to develop LOMPs for COVID-19, setting out what they will 

put in place to identify and contain outbreaks and protect the public’s health.   

This new plan combines health protection expertise, with wider multi-agency efforts, to minimise the impact 

of COIVID-19 on local communities.   

Each LOMP will centre on seven themes: 

Theme 1.  Planning for local outbreaks in care homes and schools 
Theme 2.  Identifying and planning how to manage other high-risk places, locations and communities of 

interest  
Theme 3.  Identifying methods for local testing to ensure a swift response that is accessible to the entire 

population.   
Theme 4.  Contact tracing and infection control capability in complex settings  
Theme 5.  Integrating national and local data and scenario planning, through the Joint Biosecurity 

Centre  
Theme 6.  Supporting vulnerable local people to get help to self-isolate and ensuring services meet the 

needs of diverse communities.  
Theme 7.  Establishing governance structures, including Member-led Boards to communicate with the 

general public. 
 

In addition to these seven themes the LOMP considers effective communication with the public and local 

stakeholders. 

Our approach, incorporating these seven domains and other elements we believe to be essential to prevent, 

detect and manage incidents and outbreaks of COVID-19 within Blackburn with Darwen, are set out in more 

detail below. 

Page 23



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

8 

 

 Summary of Approach: 
In line with the need for national, regional and local systems to work together and provide an effective, joined 

up response; we will adopt the Association of Directors of Public Health principles for COVID-19 

contact tracing.   

 Whole systems approach – we will take a whole systems approach, with national and local partners 

working together to ensure the programme works effectively  

 Subsidiarity – components of the system will be placed at the level that is best suited to the 

capabilities, skills and expertise of each agency  

 Localism – we will determine the most effective footprint for governance and delivery 

 Minimum viable products – we will act swiftly and evolve interventions as we go, with clarity on the 

roles for each part of the system and the outcomes required 

 Avoid duplication – we will use and build on what is already happening, acknowledging that significant 

planning and preparations have taken already place 

 Integration – pathways, systems and data sharing will be proactively integrated  

 Responsiveness – our plan is responsive to the differences and diversity in our local communities 

 Data sharing – proactive data sharing and flows for contact tracing, outbreak management and ongoing 

surveillance will be prioritised from the outset 

 Capacity and resources – will be made available across all levels to ensure the programme is run 

effectively and sustainably.  We cannot presume this can be done with existing resources in view of the 

scale and complexity of what is needed 

 Proper recognition of multiple local roles – multiple local are recognised within the LOMP, these 

include: a) the role of the local authority, b) the role of the DPH within the local authority and c) the 

role of the DPH as a local system leader across the NHS, Local Authority and other partners  

 Ownership – the LOMP is jointly owned under the leadership of the DPH, in line with government 

guidance on health protection and the role of the DPH 

We will engage with key partners, including all levels of government and the community and voluntary sector 

to ensure a whole system approach. 

We will make sure that the LOMP includes a strong focus on prevention and early intervention to ensure the 

most important settings, for example, care homes and schools, as well as high-risk locations and 

communities, identify and prioritise preventative measures to reduce the risk of outbreaks and protect the 

most vulnerable. 

The Lancashire DPHs have agreed to work together as a public health system, where it makes sense to do so, 

building on, and making use of, the existing working relationships we have between the LAPHTs and PHE.   

We will develop an agreed common set of approaches in the management of local outbreaks and ensure we 

make the best use of the capacity and capability of the workforce.  

Page 24

https://www.adph.org.uk/2020/05/statement-of-principles-covid-19-contact-tracing/
https://www.adph.org.uk/2020/05/statement-of-principles-covid-19-contact-tracing/


  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

9 

 

 Local Outbreak Control Plans – 7 Key Themes: 

5.1 Theme 1: Preventing and Managing Outbreaks in Care Homes and Schools:  
Early in the pandemic care homes and schools were identified as high risk settings for COVID-19 outbreaks.  

Therefore there has already been significant multi-agency work across the local authority and LRF footprint 

to prevent and manage the risk of outbreaks in these settings.  This work is described in more detail below. 

5.1.1 Care Homes: 
Comprehensive local arrangements have already been established to manage outbreaks of COVID-19 in care 

homes.  These arrangements involves partnership and joint working between social care, public health, 

Infection Prevention Control Teams (IPCT), Primary Care Neighbourhoods (PCNs), Clinical Commissioning 

Groups (CCGs), the Integrated Care System (ICS), Pennine Regulated Care Cell (PRCC) and the LRF Adult Social 

Care Cell. 

Both the Lancashire and CCG IPCTs are involved in providing training to Care Home staff on IPC, PPE and 

swab-taking.   

The local Care Quality Team are in regular contact with care homes to help monitor cases and outbreaks and 

the LAPHT have provided first contact support and advice in collaboration with PHE. 

These arrangements are set out in more detail in the Blackburn with Darwen Care Home Outbreak 

Management Plan.  Implementation and oversight of this plan is through the PRCC which assures local 

market resilience and compliance.  The plan covers the following key areas of outbreak management activity; 

5.1.2 Main Areas 
 

 Proactive advice and guidance 

 Monitoring arrangements 

 Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) 

 Testing and tracing 

 Data gathering and Intelligence 

 Provider engagement and support 

5.1.3 Consequence Management Scenarios: 

 PPE and Supply 

 Auxiliary workforce 

 Clinical Support 

 Financial assistance 

 Modelling /alternative accommodation 

The PRCC monitors and tracks soft intelligence, agrees and mobilises responses to individual providers from 

the council, neighbourhood health partners from the PCN and the wider CCG workforce.  The cell reports 

into the LRF. 

The PRCC acts as a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) for care home outbreaks.  These arrangements are 

integrated into the Blackburn with Darwen Outbreak Management Hub. 

5.1.4 Schools: 
The extended opening of schools, from June onwards, requires plans to support schools to undertake timely 

risk assessment, implement effective IPC measures, maintain a resilient workforce and respond to cases or 

outbreaks in their setting. 

Throughout the pandemic the Director of Children’s Services, Head of Education, Public Health and Health 

and Safety Team have worked closely with Head Teachers, via special weekly School Improvement Group 

(SIG) meetings and other fora to provide specialist advice, guidance and support. 

Page 25



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

10 

 

All Blackburn with Darwen schools have been provided with; 

 Online Infection & Prevention Awareness training 

 Proactive IPC advice via the Council’s Health and Safety Team 

 Regular clarification of key guidance and messages via the head teachers bulletin and SIG meetings 

 A localised version of the PHE NW Schools Pack setting out actions to prevent and respond to 

outbreaks of COVID-19 

 A COVID-19 risk assessment tool to assist in preparing to open to more pupils from June 2020 

 A COVID-19 staff risk assessment tool  

Our local Schools Outbreak Management Plan covers the following key areas of outbreak management 

activity;  

5.1.5 Main Areas 

 Proactive advice and guidance 

 Monitoring arrangements 

 IPC 

 Testing and tracing 

 Data gathering and Intelligence 

5.1.6 Consequence Management Scenarios: 

 PPE and supply 

 Workforce 

The Head of Education acts as the SPOC for schools.   

5.2 Theme 2: Preventing and managing outbreaks in high-risk settings and communities and 

other settings of interest 
We know that there are some people and communities who are at an increased risk during a COVID-19 

outbreak; and that there are settings which are more likely to have outbreaks or may be more challenging to 

manage during an outbreak. 

Identifying and planning how to manage high risk places, settings and communities of interest is critical to 

ensuring that those groups who are most in need get the support required to prevent transmission and 

manage the consequences of the virus.   

Therefore we have developed specific outbreak management plans with pre-agreed actions to respond 

to outbreaks in higher-risk settings and settings of interest and that address the health needs of the most 

vulnerable people and communities.  These include: 

 High risk workplaces/occupations including leisure and entertainment venues 

 Care homes 

 Other residential settings including mental health and learning disability  

 Domiciliary care  

 Schools 

 Early years 

 Faith settings  

 Madrassahs 

 Homeless/HMOs 

 Asylum Seeker/Refugee communities 

 

Page 26



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

11 

 

Healthcare settings such as hospitals and primary care have their own outbreak control plans and IPC 

arrangements and will liaise directly with PHE regarding the management of outbreaks in their settings.  The 

Outbreak Management Hub (OMH) will support local consequence management of outbreaks in healthcare 

settings, as appropriate. 

This is not an exhaustive list and is expected to grow and develop over time as new situations arise. 

Local SPOC arrangements have been agreed for each high risk setting. 

5.2.1 Additional Considerations: 
In developing our plans we will take account of the additional population health risks posed to our local 

communities as described below. 

5.2.2 Ethnicity: 
Emerging evidence shows that Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities are disproportionately 

affected by COVID-19.  The impact may also be higher among those in the higher age brackets.  The reasons 

for this are not yet fully understood but the health inequalities present for BAME communities have long 

been recognised.   

Approximately one third of the borough’s population is from a BAME group; the highest proportion in 

Lancashire.  Therefore it is important that in Blackburn with Darwen, we are alert to the impact of COVID-19 

on our BAME communities. 

All settings are being asked to consider the additional risks posed to BAME staff and put appropriate 

mitigation measures in place.   

Blackburn with Darwen Council has developed a staff risk assessment tool, incorporating consideration of 

ethnicity.   

We will continue to work with local partners and the LRF BAME Inequalities Group to ensure our approach 

to preventing and managing outbreaks of COVID-19 addresses the specific additional risks posed to BAME 

communities and individuals. 

5.2.3 Deprivation and Inequalities: 
Levels of deprivation in BwD are above the national average and the borough is within the 10% most deprived 

local authority areas in England. 

People facing the greatest deprivation experience a higher rate of exposure to COVID-19 and existing poor 

health may put them at risk of more severe outcomes if they contract the virus.  Measures to curb spread of 

the virus are leaving many of these same people exposed to greater risks to their physical and mental health 

from increased economic and social hardship during the lockdown.   

5.2.4 Preventative Work in High Risk Settings: 
In addition to providing guidance and advice to care homes and schools and communicating guidance and 

advice to the general population, there is a need for evidence-based preventative measures to be targeted 

at high-risk settings. 

We will continue to work proactively with specific complex/high risk settings within Blackburn with Darwen.  

This includes; 

 

 

 

Page 27



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

12 

 

5.2.5 High Risk Workplaces:  
The Local Authority has a key role in promoting and enforcing covid-secure workplaces based on the five 

main steps to working safely set out in Government guidance on working safely during coronavirus.  

These are; 
 Carrying out a COVID-19 risk assessment 

 Developing cleaning, handwashing and hygiene procedures 

 Helping people to work from home 

 Maintaining social distancing, where possible 

 Where people cannot socially distance, manage transmission risk in other ways 

The Public Protection Team are responsible for working with businesses to promote covid-secure practices, 

monitoring compliance and taking action where necessary.  This includes close working with local business 

networks. 

A programme of covid-secure inspections is being conducted, targeting high risk workplaces and responding 

to complaints.  Enforcement action will be escalated where informal approaches do not bring about the 

required level of compliance. 

Work has commenced to identify and work proactively with high risk workplaces across the borough.  This 

includes workplaces where there is a high risk of close contact, shared facilities, likelihood of non-compliance 

or other risk factors such as high proportion BAME workforce.   

Examples of the proactive approach being undertaken include; 

 Local web pages with links to advice and guidance on working in accordance with Covid security measures  

 Dedicated communications circulated to high risk workplaces i.e. taxi operators about how to follow 

Covid secure guidance, implications of track and trace being ready to provide lists of contacts/customers 

 General communications through the Shuttle (the civic magazine of Blackburn with Darwen) and social 

media channels for all businesses on Covid-secure guidance. 

 Circulation lists based on business rates information to disseminate advice and guidance to retailers  

 Food safety inspections now include questions about Covid security measures in place  

In addition we continue to offer advice and guidance to businesses and individuals who request it. 

5.2.6 Madrassahs: 
We have collaborated with Lancashire Council of Mosques and partners across the LRF to issue guidance for 

the safe opening of Madrassahs, which includes advice on preventing and managing outbreaks of COVID-19. 

5.2.7 Homeless/HMOs: 
People who are sleeping rough and Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) were identified locally as high risk 

early in the pandemic and a multi-agency working group was established to support these 

individuals/settings.   

Proactive advice, guidance and support has, and continues to be, provided to HMOs/rough sleepers 
including; 

 Clarification and promotion of all relevant guidance  

 Daily contact with and monitoring of each site  

 Provision of bespoke infection prevention control and health and safety advice 

 Provision of Covid Care facilities for symptomatic individuals or those asked to self-isolate 

 Arrangements for safe transportation of COVID positive individuals 

 Clarification of local testing arrangements for vulnerable groups 

 Enhanced clinical support and close working with providers of drug and alcohol services  

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19


  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

13 

 

Site specific infection control and contingency plans are in place, which underpin the HMO outbreak 

management plan.   

5.2.8 Infection Prevention Control: 
A proactive and reactive programme of information and support surrounding IPC for the public and high risk 

settings will help to keep transmission rates low.  

IPC teams have already made a significant contribution to prevention and management of COVID-19 in all 

settings and will continue to be a critical part of our outbreak management arrangements. 

Plans are being developed to increase community IPC capacity across the Lancashire LRF footprint.  This will 

require a collaborative approach to consolidate and grow what will be needed to prevent and respond to 

outbreaks of the virus.   

5.2.9 Action Cards: 
As part of the national containment framework ‘action cards’ will be developed for individual settings such 

as workplaces or institutional settings. 

The action cards provide details of how and who the setting should contact in the event they suspect they 

have a COVID-19 outbreak in their setting. 

The action cards also provide clear guidance on how individual settings can help prevent the 

infection by applying existing guidance on: 

 social distancing 

 sticking to the risk-assessed safe working advice 

 cleaning hands regularly 

 disinfecting objects, surfaces and common touch points 

 cohorting the workforce and minimising contacts outside of the household 

The action cards will be web-based and will be produced, updated and promoted nationally and locally for 

individuals, businesses and organisations to download and use. 

5.3 Theme 3: Local Testing Capacity 
Timely and accessible testing and appropriate reporting is crucial to be able to predict and intervene in local 

outbreaks.  

The LRF/Test and Trace Cell will; 

 Secure available testing capacity for the locality that is both sufficient and timely 

 Ensure effective and timely data flows of results 

 Agree principles for the prioritisation of that testing capacity in its locality, to ensure transparent and 

equitable access for each constituent local authority area 

 Establish community swabbing arrangements to support testing required for outbreak investigation 

Delivery of the testing strategy in Blackburn with Darwen sits with the Health Protection Board.  This structure 

will work with the LRF Test and Trace Cell to carry out the work required to ensure optimal capacity and 

access to testing across the borough. Arrangements are still evolving however, ‘flexible’ testing resources to 

be considered include:- 

 Regional Testing Centre at Preston College 

 Testing Satellite Unit at Royal Blackburn Hospital  

 Mobile Testing Units 

 Swabs delivered by post / courier for self-swabbing or swabbing by carers 

Page 29



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

14 

 

 Community Swabbing Teams – i.e. East Lancs. Hospitals Trust (ELHT), East Lancs CCG, Lancashire & South 

Cumbria FT. 

 ELHT staff, who have supported the Satellite at Royal Blackburn Hospital  

 NHS community staff who have trained Care Home staff on IPC, PPE and swab-taking 

 NHS Laboratories at ELHT and Lancashire Teaching Hospitals Foundation Trust 

 CCG-hosted Swabbing Coordination Team 

To estimate demand for Blackburn with Darwen for test and trace we have utilised the Demand Model 

Assumptions for Contact Tracing produced by PHE NW. 

We believe that case finding is an important element of outbreak management.  As such, we propose to 

develop protocols for the testing of asymptomatic individuals in high risk settings and communities, based 

on local knowledge and intelligence.  These will be settings and communities at high risk of high consequence 

outbreaks or transmission.   

5.4 Theme 4: Contact Tracing in Complex Settings:  
Contact tracing can be both a part of surveillance and epidemiology on local outbreaks and a tool for 

implementing outbreak control.   

Contact tracing sits as one component within the full range of public health tools and techniques needed to 

manage an outbreak, and assumes these other components are in place to be effective.   

To estimate demand for Blackburn with Darwen for test and trace we have utilised the Demand Model 

Assumptions for Contact Tracing produced by PHE NW. 

The majority of contact tracing will be carried out by the Tier 2 PBCT however cases linked to complex 

settings, may be escalated to Tier 1 (PHE and UTLA joint response).  Therefore there is a need to create 

contact tracing surge capacity at local level.  

Initial surge capacity will be based around existing capacity for contact tracing and environmental health 

within Public Health, Public Protection and IPC, with appropriate training provided.  In the longer term this 

may not be sustainable as more staff return to their usual duties alongside other COVID-19 generated tasks.   

Options to understand and scale capacity for complex contact tracing and outbreak management are being 

explored at LRF/UTLA level and include the development of a Tier 1 ‘Hub’ for Lancashire (PHE NW, Blackburn 

with Darwen, Blackpool and Lancashire Local Authorities), to respond and appropriately manage complex 

cases and outbreaks in conjunction with local partners .  This includes complex contact tracing or supporting 

people to isolate where required and information sharing with localities where consequence management is 

required. 

5.5 Theme 5: Data Integration: 
The availability of local, timely and high-quality data and intelligence  is a critical factor in preventing and 

managing outbreaks. 

The Department of Health and Social Care National Testing Programme, NHS Digital and NHSX are developing 

an interactive data dashboard which will be available for local use.  This data dashboard, alongside the data 

produced by the Joint Biosecurity Centre, will provide local Health Protection Boards with national data and 

intelligence. 

To complement the national data dashboard, local data and intelligence gathered from partners and through 

local incident management teams and outbreak control teams, will be vital to ensure an effective tactical 

response to local outbreaks 

As access improves and data flows, our ambition is to gain a more detailed picture of the spread of Covid-19 

across Blackburn with Darwen which will be nearer to real-time data.  The aim will be to use data to: 

Page 30

https://www.nhsx.nhs.uk/


  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

15 

 

 Identify local outbreaks and hotspots through data analysis and mapping; 

 Provide evidence to support neighbourhood-level decision making 

 Provide evidence to support resource distribution decisions (e.g. testing capacity) 

 Provide evidence of communities or groups who may require additional support (e.g. aware of larger 

numbers of people in a particular area self-isolating) 

 Where possible, undertake forecasting and predictive analytics 

Data Integration is being coordinated and led through the LRF Joint Intelligence and Planning Cell.  The key 

data currently available to assist with the prevention and management of outbreaks is summarised in 

Appendix 2. 

The LRF will provide the single point of contact for all sources of information to flow into the appropriate 

data warehouses for further analysis.   

A data warehouse is being established at Blackpool Teaching Hospital Trust (BTHT) for COVID related data 

with initial work focusing on the Pillar 1 Hospital Testing Data from across the ICS; led by the Digital 

Intelligence Unit at BTHT.  Data will then flow to Blackburn with Darwen to inform local incident and outbreak 

management. 

We are working across the LRF to define common ICT products and systems, integrated with PHE.  

All agencies will be required to adopt a proactive approach to sharing information by default, in line with the 

Instructions of the Secretary of State, the Statement of the Information Commissioner on COVID-19 and the 

Civil Contingencies Act (Appendix 3). 

Timely data and surveillance information will provide the COVID-19 Health Protection Board with the 

necessary information to help prevent and control the transmission of COVID-19. 

The Local Outbreak Engagement Board will have an important role in communicating data and intelligence 

with the public, primarily to strengthen the link between evidence and decision making and promote 

openness and transparency. 

5.6 Theme 6: Supporting Vulnerable Local People 
We know that some people and families who are instructed to self-isolate as a result of having symptoms or 

being identified as a close contact of a confirmed case may find this difficult and require additional support.  

Blackburn with Darwen Council, working with partners, will ensure that these people are able to find 

appropriate help and support. 

Individuals asked to self-isolate will be directed to the BwD Help Hub if they require any of the following 

during the period of self-isolation:  

 Support to obtain food  

 Support to obtain essential personal and sanitary care items 

 Support with utilities and bills 

 Support for welfare, mental wellbeing and loneliness 

 Support to obtain health care or medication 

 Support for someone they care for 

 Support around debt or benefits (including claiming SSP) 

The Help Help Hub will assist individuals to access the local support available as well as provide reassurance 

and re-iteration of key messages.  This is a bespoke local offer for communities taking account of language, 

cultural needs and dietary requirements.  If the Help Hub is notified as people are identified as needing to 

self-isolate, pro-active outbound calls can be made to triage need. 

Page 31

https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/coronavirus/bwd-help-hub-residents


  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

16 

 

The Help Hub is staffed with people who are representative of the communities they serve and equipped 

with a wide range of community development and engagement expertise, including over 100 approved 

volunteers who support in shopping and befriending roles.   

The Help Hub approach is a strength based one that builds on the assets within communities.  As well as the 

functions above the Help Hub has a co-ordination function that includes: 

 The Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector (VCFS) a wide range of trusted VCFS partners providing a 

comprehensive offer of local support.   

 Engagement expertise – a team of Engagement and Integration officers who have established 

relationships with communities and can be called upon to engage in a preventative way to ensure local 

communities understand test and trace messages. 

 Community Learning - a team of tutors who deliver workshops and on-line classes around health and 

wellbeing and who also support digital inclusion for vulnerable people who do not have IT access or skills. 

 Sheltered accommodation and Registered Social Landlords – responsive and co-ordinated support to 

vulnerable people in sheltered accommodation.  

 Social Prescribing – a team of 4 social prescribers working with GP’s to support social needs as a way to 

improve health and wellbeing will have a specific remit to include support to those who are isolating. 

The Help Hub is part of the wider Blackburn with Darwen Health and Social Care Integration Programme that 

operates in the borough’s PCNs.  The offer includes direct referrals to and co-ordinated support. 

5.7 Theme 7: Local Governance Arrangements: 
While the response to outbreaks will be led by the local DPH, success will require a co-ordinated partnership 

response.  This will involve numerous agencies working together.  The agencies involved will depend on 

where an outbreak occurs but it is critical that all organisations understand the plan, role and actions they 

are expected to take in response. 

Therefore it is important that any new arrangements to manage local COVID-19 outbreaks build 

on existing plans, structures and arrangements such as the Health and Wellbeing Board and LRF and are able 

to fulfil any reporting requirements by other bodies. 

New local governance arrangements are being put in place to ensure local outbreak plans are developed and 

delivered to meet local need.  These arrangements are being developed in conjunction with a range of 

partners and include clear lines of reporting to and relationship with the LRF leadership structure.  The 

following governance arrangements will support the LOMP, as described diagrammatically in Figure 1. 

 
Figure 1 -BwD Outbreak Management Governance Requirements Page 32



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

17 

 

5.7.1 Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Health protection Board: 
Blackburn with Darwen Council has established a Covid-19 Health Protection Board, which is responsible for 

the LOMP and coordinating the resources and agencies needed to provide a swift response to managing an 

outbreak of the virus. 

The Board has representation from all settings to be able to plan, prepare and respond to outbreaks. 

This Board is chaired by the Director of Public Health and has the following responsibilities: 

 Local Outbreak Management Plan and resource deployment. 

 Data and intelligence (with the national Joint Biosecurity Centre). 

 Leading the local public health response with PHE (and NHS test and trace). 

 Assurance and reporting to the Local Outbreak Engagement Outbreak Board and the LRF. 

Membership will include, but is not limited to; 

 PHE Health Protection  

 Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 Police 

 Environmental health 

 Housing 

 Social 

 Education 

 Business, economy, enterprise and skills 

 Communications 

 Public health intelligence 

 Voluntary sector  

 

5.7.2 Blackburn with Darwen Local Outbreak Engagement Board: 
A new Elected Member led group is also being established.  This Board is chaired by the leader of the Council 

and will have the following responsibilities: 

 Political oversight of the local delivery of plan and response 

 Communicating and engaging with residents and communities 

Membership will include, but is not limited to: 

 Health and Wellbeing Board Chair/Leader of the Council 

 Executive Members  

 The Director of Public Health 

 Clinical Commissioning Group Chair  

 Voluntary, community and faith sector 

 Communications and engagement officers  

Page 33



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

18 

 

 Communications and Engagement 
Providing up-to-date guidance, information and advice to the public and specific stakeholders/audiences is a 

vital element of the overall plan.  

We will provide a communications focus on predicting and preventing outbreaks including a communication 

campaign based on amplifying national guidance with interpretation and localisation.  This will be evaluated 

and adapted throughout its duration.  

This will include a programme of targeted engagement based on insight, research and data to ensure hard-

to-reach and at risk groups are kept informed and supported directly and through key groups and individuals.  

There are established close working arrangements with key partners in agreeing and communicating 

proactive, timely COVID-19 messages within the LRF Warning and Informing Group.  

6.1 Key stakeholders.  
Key audiences for communications activity include councillors, MPs, health, education (including schools, 

further and higher education), public transport, retail, business, local communities and the third sector. 

Our approach includes: 

 Providing key information about local outbreaks, the impact on people's normal lives and the effect on 

local services  

 Increasing awareness of the importance of testing, and encouraging take up 

 Raising awareness about how tracing works and explaining how the sharing of contacts prevents the 

spread of the virus and saves lives 

 Increasing understanding of the importance of self-isolation:  

o encouraging individuals with symptoms to help to contain the virus, 

o  increasing understanding from employers and signposting people to available support 

 Supporting and sharing communications from NHS Test and Trace to help to control and reduce the 

infection rate and assist with recovery. 

 A co-ordinated and effective communications response, particularly during local outbreaks supporting 

the work on the Covid-19 Health Protection Board and the Local Outbreak Engagement Board. 

 Disseminating key messages on testing, tracing and outbreak control to key stakeholders 

 Using established local channels, networks, and resources wherever possible. 

 

The three categories for activity can be categorised as: 

6.2 Before a local outbreak 
 Continuing to raise general awareness of Covid-19 symptoms, guidance and testing - how to avoid 

becoming a ‘contact’ 

 Explaining how the tracing system works and how it will help to reduce the spread of the virus 

 Encourage people to consider and prepare in advance for self-isolation by understanding what support 

is available and consider how they would get food, medicine etc. if they had to self-isolate 

 Encourage people to support their family, friends and neighbours during isolation 

 Encourage employers to think about preparing in advance for employees who need to self-isolate by 

clarifying policies, processes and support available to their staff 

6.3 During a local outbreak 
A flexible approach will be taken with communications messages. Communications activity will be 

determined based on the setting, numbers of people involved and the impact it could have, taking into 

consideration data protection. 

 
Page 34



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

19 

 

This could include the following actions:   

 Make people aware of how an outbreak will affect them 

 Make people aware of the impact of ignoring the guidance 

 Thank people who are doing the right thing 

 Explain what conditions need to be met to lift the restrictions and how long this could take 

 Raise awareness of local support 

6.4 Following an outbreak 
This phase will support the ‘recovery’ of a particular area.  The aims will be: 

 Raise awareness of any changes to the guidelines or restrictions 

 Explain the Public Health rationale for the easing 

 Explain how coronavirus is being monitored, to provide reassurance 

6.5 Channels and tactics 

Blackburn with Darwen Council is using a number of existing communication channels and tactics to deliver 

COVID-19 messages both internally and externally which will be developed as part of the campaign: 

 The Shuttle online news website 

 Dedicated website pages on all relevant service pages/microsites 

 Social media content  

 Local media editorial and advertising 

 Dedicated webpages 

 Marketing/outdoor advertising including bus stops, digital screens, lamppost banners 

 Stakeholder newsletters/bulletins 

 Text and email (Gov.notify) 

 Video 

6.6 Protocols 
Ensuring there is timely, consistent messaging from important local organisations will help avoid confusion 

and to build trust and confidence.  

There are existing communication protocols and material in place between PHE and local authorities to 

ensure clarity and consistency of messages in response to an outbreak. 

Key spokespeople will be the Leader of the Council, the Director of Public Health and other senior members 

of the public health team, the Council’s Chief Executive and other service directors and elected members 

(Executive Members and their Assistants) 

6.7 Evaluation 
The Council’s communications service will provide ongoing professional evaluation of the effectiveness of 

communications activity based on the objectives.  Based on this learning the approach will be adapted for 

future communications activity, in consultation with the Health Protection and Local Outbreak Engagement 

Board. 

The detailed plans and progress will sit with a dedicated Communications & Engagement Group that will 

report into the Health Protection Board.  A communication lead will sit on the COVID-19 Health Protection 

Board and Local Outbreak Engagement Board to support them in an advisory capacity. 

Page 35



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

20 

 

 Local Response Arrangements 
The following sections detail the local system response to outbreaks of Covid-19.   

7.1 Blackburn with Darwen Outbreak Management Hub 
Each UTLA is required to establish a local OMH under the control of the respective DPH to coordinate and 

operationalise the LOMP. 

In Lancashire we are working to develop a pan-Lancashire Tier 1 Hub, which will bring additional contact 

tracing capacity as well as expertise from the Health Protection Team in PHE into the system. The Hub will 

act as Level 1 and will be an interface for those complex cases passed through by the national test and trace 

service.  

The key roles and responsibilities of the Tier 1 Hub will be as follows: 

 Receipt of escalated cases from Level 2 and 3 of the national test and trace service 

 Receipt of contact tracing requirements directly from localities where local intelligence identifies issues 

in the first instance 

 Completion of setting-specific contact tracing or escalation to appropriate setting to undertake contact 

tracing themselves (eg. hospitals; fire & rescue service; police) 

 Information sharing with localities where issues are dealt with 

 Escalation of potential individual/household support requirements to locality SPOCs 

 Assessment of whether an outbreak has been identified (PHE) 

 Joint management of outbreaks   

The Blackburn with Darwen OMH will receive notifications of confirmed local cases of COVID-19 from 

PHE/Tier 1 Hub.    

A dedicated SPOC e-mail address BWD.COVID19@blackburn.gov.uk , has been established for this purpose.  

This acts as a point of contact for two way communication with PHE/Tier 1 Hub to escalate cases and 

situations where they are identified both by the national test and trace system, and local intelligence. 

Appendix 4 sets out the outbreak management system architecture for Blackburn with Darwen. 

Core membership of the OMH will include; 

 A senior representative of PHE Health Protection Team 

 Local Authority Public Health 

 Public Protection (Environmental Health)  

 CCG/NHS 

 Social Care 

 BwD Help Hub 

 Admin 

 Legal 

 Communications 

 Setting specific SPOCS 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 36

mailto:BWD.COVID19@blackburn.gov.uk


  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

21 

 

The key functions of the OMH are to: 

 Act as contact point for PHE/Tier 1 Hub  

 Receive cases from PHE/Tier 1 Hub in 3 forms of escalation; 

o For information 

o For action 

o For preparedness (no action required, but may be required in the future) 

 Escalate issues/cases identified locally to where further contact tracing support or specialist input from 

PHE/the Lancashire Tier 1 Hub is required  

 Ensure timely access to and sharing of information, data and intelligence to inform action and monitor 

outcomes 

 Provision of advice and guidance to setting 

 Rapid and proactive management and coordination of local outbreaks as set out in local plans 

 Consequence management with complex settings  

 Ensuring direct support to vulnerable and complex cohorts and households 

 Proactive infection control advice & guidance 

 Local stakeholder engagement 

 Local intelligence gathering 

 Communications 

 Deployment of appropriate legislative and regulatory powers 

Criteria considered for escalation to the Blackburn with Darwen OMH include: 

 Large number of contacts are likely to meet the proximity or direct contact definition 

 High numbers of vulnerable people are identified as potential contacts within the setting 

 Potential impact on service delivery if staff are excluded for 14 days from exposure 

 Significant consequence management concerns 

 Concerns around support needs of potentially vulnerable individuals or households 

 Outbreak declared 

 Healthcare setting 

 Social care setting 

 Death or severe illness reported in the case or contacts  

 Significant likelihood of media or political interest in situation.  

Good local relationships often mean service leads/managers are notified informally before a formal 

notification is made.  If an incident or suspected case is raised directly with a setting lead this intelligence will 

be passed onto the OMH.  The relevant lead will then liaise with the PHE Health Protection Team to 

triangulate data and intelligence. 

7.2 Managing an Outbreak - Key Roles and Responsibilities 
All positive COVID-19 test results are fed through the national test and trace service.  From here, relevant 

contact tracing will take place by national Level 2 and Level 3 call handlers, with more complex issues and 

cases being escalated to PHE/the Lancashire Tier 1 Hub, which may subsequently be passed to the Blackburn 

with Darwen OMH.  

If multiple cases are identified in a setting (two or more confirmed cases occur in the same setting within 14 

days), or with other clear epidemiological links, the Tier 1 Hub will risk assess whether this is likely to indicate 

transmission within a particular environment.  

 

 

Page 37



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

22 

 

This risk assessment will include: 

 Monitoring dates of onset of illness and of last attendance at the setting 

 Monitoring dates of contact between cases in the setting and use of PPE / social distancing during 

contact 

 Links between cases outside the setting (e.g. home address; social activities; friends; other known links) 

7.3 If, following assessment, this is identified as an outbreak it will progress to the BwD 

OMH. Local Outbreak Management Steps 
The key steps that will be led by Blackburn with Darwen OMH in conjunction with PHE and other partners 

are as follows: 

Step Action Required 

1. Notification The OMH SPOC will be informed of the situation and will log basic information to 
determine next steps and immediate follow-up. 

2. Outbreak 
Investigation 
& Risk 
Assessment 

In the event of a suspected or confirmed outbreak, the local authority will set up an 
Incident Management Team (IMT) to assess the incident and agree any initial 
infection control measures required to control the outbreak.   

The team will be made of representatives who have the knowledge and skills 
specific to the affected setting. 

The OMH will work with PHE/the Lancashire Tier 1 Hub to review intelligence. This 
will involve contact with the setting to gather further information about numbers of 
symptomatic individuals and potential contacts, including any other risks.  

Where significant risk is identified a joint decision will be taken between the local 
authority and PHE to declare an outbreak. 

3. Advice & 
Controls 

Infection prevention & control advice will be provided to the setting to manage 
immediate risks. This will include social distancing, hygiene, PPE use, cohorting, 
cleaning and requirement for closure.  

Links to relevant national and local advice including template letters for further 
communications will be provided. 

Communications implications will also be considered at this stage.  

4. Assess 
Testing 
Need 

The OMH will determine the need for any further testing and coordinate 
deployment of testing as necessary. 

Page 38



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

23 

 

Step Action Required 

5. Assess Need 
for Outbreak 
Control 
Team 

In the event of a complex outbreak it may be necessary to set up an Outbreak 
Control Team (OCT) in addition to the IMT. 

It is usually the PHE Health Protection Team who will declare the need to set up an 
OCT, chaired by a Consultant in Public Health from the LHPT or Local Authority 
Consultant in Public Health/Health Protection. 

It is the role of the OCT to agree the appropriate intervention measures to put in 
place and how this is communicated to key people within the setting and/or their 
carers. 

Communications implications will also be considered at this stage.  

A high threshold will be applied and an OCT will only be convened for the most 
complex situations. In lower risk scenarios the OMH will coordinate the local 
response.  

6. Continued 
Follow-up 

Consequence management issues will be coordinated by the OMH and picked up by 
local partners.  

Examples may include support for vulnerable individuals; PPE supply; complex local 
contact tracing; staffing and business continuity issues.  

Settings will remain in contact with the OMH to inform of any further issues or 
changes to the situation.  The risk assessment will be reviewed if information 
emerges that would change the approach (eg. increase in number of cases) 

7. Close 
Outbreak 

In the short term, once all necessary infection prevention and control and 
consequence management actions are complete the situation is closed for further 
actions.  

The outbreak can be declared over 28 days after the last case of Covid-19 infection.  

Further actions around consequence management may need to continue beyond 
this period if there has been significant impact.  

8. Further 
Monitoring/ 
Notification 

The setting will monitor the situation and will notify the OMH SPOC if the situation 
worsens and further input is required.  

 

Page 39



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

24 

 

 Deploying Appropriate Legislative and Regulatory Powers  
The LOMP includes a summary of relevant regulatory powers. The Council has a statutory duty to protect the 
population’s health by responding to and managing communicable disease outbreaks, which requires urgent 
investigation and presents a public health risk.   
 
The legal context for the Councils’ response to COVID-19 sits within the following Acts:  
  
• The Coronavirus Act 2020 
 • Health and Social Care Act 2012 
 • Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 
In addition to the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) 
(No.3) Regulations 2020 that come into force on 18 July  increase Council’s powers to tackle local outbreaks.  
The Health Protection (Coronavirus Restrictions) (Blackburn with Darwen and Luton) Regulations 2020 
further empowers the Council to protect against the risk to public health from COVID -19.  
 

Some situations may involve potentially infectious people who cannot or will not agree voluntarily to be 

tested or settings that do not comply with covid-safe practices.  In such circumstances we will pursue the 4 

Es - Engage, Explain, Encourage, and last resort Enforce. 

The LRF Legal Cell have reviewed the legislation relevant to enforcement in the pandemic (see Appendix 5) 

and will advise on any further legislative updates. 

The OMH will include a representative of the Councils’ legal team and specific legal advice will be sought in 

any given scenario. 

Page 40



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

25 

 

 Resources: 
The effectiveness of the LOMP requires financial resource and capability as well as staff skills and expertise. 

Nationally, £300million has been allocated for local authorities to support the additional public health 

capacity required to develop and implement the plans to mitigate against and manage local COVID-19 

outbreaks. 

While the response to a local outbreak is led by public health, the skills and expertise within the local 

system are required to effectively manage outbreaks.  Public health within Local Government and PHE do 

not have the capacity, skills or expertise alone. 

Resources and input will be needed from organisations and professional groups, such as (amongst others): 

 Environmental health officers 

 Infection prevention and control 

 health and social care 

 communications officers 

 data and intelligence analysts 

 health and safety officers 

The precise additional resource required locally will be dependent upon the number and complexity of 

COVID-19 outbreaks. 

We will expand capacity for the management of outbreaks within the local workforce, in particular for those 

staff directly involved in testing, outbreak and consequence management, provision of specialist advice and 

guidance, contact tracing or provision of support to vulnerable people who are instructed to self-isolate. 

Where appropriate, shared solutions are being explored to help build capacity and resilience across the LRF. 

Page 41



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

26 

 

 Development and Monitoring of the LOMP 
We are currently working in a fast-changing, complex environment.  We will continue to respond proactively 

to rapidly changing evidence, national guidance, demands and expectations.   

We will take a continuous learning approach to the planning and response to COVID-19 outbreaks, sharing 

and learning from others to ensure we provide the most effective response we can.  

We will test and refine our local plan, during the early stages of implementation, through a scenario-based 

exercise.  

Regular surveillance of local data will provide the insight needed to assess the effectiveness of the plan.  The 

plan itself is also not set in stone and will evolve as new research and policy is produced, ensuring that it 

continues to protect and support our communities. 

 

Page 42



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

27 

 

Appendix 1. DEFINITIONS 

Suspected Case 
(COVID-19) 

A person with a new continuous cough OR fever OR loss of/ change in smell 
or taste. 

Confirmed Case 
(COVID-19) 

A person with laboratory confirmation of virus causing COVID-19 infection, 
irrespective of clinical signs and symptoms. 

Outbreak Two or more cases which meet the clinical case definition above, arising 
within the same 14-day period in people who live or work in the care home  
 
The occurrence of two or more cases of suspected or confirmed COVID-19 
arising within the same 14-day period in a shared setting. 

Contact Person who has had contact (see below) at any time from 48 hours before 
onset of symptoms (or test if asymptomatic) to 7 days after onset of 
symptoms (or test). 

Direct close 
contact  

Face to face contact with a case for any length of time, within 1m, including 
being coughed on, a face to face conversation, unprotected physical contact 
(skin to skin) or travel in a small vehicle with a case. This includes exposure 
within 1 metre for 1 minute or longer  
 
A person who wore appropriate PPE or maintained appropriate social 
distancing (over 2 meters) would not be classed as a close contact. 

Proximity contact 
without PPE 

Extended close contact (between 1 and 2 metres for more than 15 minutes) 
with a case. 

Closed setting Pertains to residential settings i.e. car ehomes or in patients in health care 
settings 

Open setting  All other settinsg where staff, students or service users move in ant out of 
the setting 

Household contact A person who lives with or spends significant time in the same household as 
a possible or confirmed case of coronavirus (COVID-19). This includes living 
and sleeping in the same home, anyone sharing kitchen or bathroom 
facilities, or sexual partners.  

Clusters & 
Outbreaks 

A cluster is defined as a situation there are two or more confirmed cases 
where there is as yet no confirmed epidemiological link (in time, place and 
person).   
An outbreak is defined as a situation where there are two or more cases with 
linked in time, place and person, i.e. confirmed epidemiological link  
 

End of an outbreak 
 

The outbreak can be declared over 28 days after the last case of Covid-19 

infection.  

 

Page 43



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

28 

 

Appendix 2. KEY DATA SOURCES TO INFORM LOCAL OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT 

The table below shows the key data sources required to support the development of effective local 
outbreak management.   
 

Data Source Description Provider LRF/ICS UTLA 

NHS 111 NHS 111 online and call centre 
data for symptomatic from 
February including Post  Code 
(PC), age, gender, symptom,  

NHSD/Joint 
Biosecurity 
Centre 
(JBC) 

Aggregated to 
CCG only 

Aggregated to CCG 
only. Required at PC 

119  119 call centre data for 
mapping and contact tracing 
system. Real time data flow 
required 

NHSD/ JBC Tracing and 
outbreak control 

Tracing and 
outbreak control 

Testing data     

Pillar 1: Hospital 
Testing 

Pathology Lab testing data for 
all ICS Trusts: in Post Code, Age, 
Gender, Ethnic Group 

ICS 
Hospital 
Trusts 

Data warehouse 
for analysis and 
mapping against 
community and 
service assets. 

From LRF/ICS 

Operational and 
mapping  of 
hotspots and 
outbreaks 

Pillar 2: Community 
Testing 

Drive through and community 
testing 

PHE NW Data warehouse 
for analysis and 
mapping against 
community and 
service assets. 

From LRF/ICS 

Operational and 
mapping  of 
hotspots and 
outbreaks 

Pillar 3: Trace 
contact testing 

CTAS – data from calls to 119 
CTAS and data through the App 
at individual level: including 
contact details, PC, DoB, 
Gender, Ethnic Group 

NHSD/ JBC Data warehouse 
for analysis and 
mapping against 
community and 
service assets. 

From LRF/ICS 

Operational and 
mapping  of 
hotspots and 
outbreaks 

Care Home Testing 
and HMO testing 

Care Home and individual 
details 

HMO and individual details 

PHE NW Care Home/HMO 
outbreak 
management and 
support 

Care Home/HMO 
outbreak 
management and 
support 

GP or primary care 
and out of hours 
calls/data linked to 
COVID-19 

    

Local Intelligence      

Settings directly 
/Local partners 

 

i.e concern about covid-safe 
practices, early notification of 
cases/outbreaks 

N/A   

Page 44



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

29 

 

Appendix 3. INSTRUCTIONS OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE  

The Secretary of State has issued 4 notices under the Health Service Control of Patient Information 

Regulations 2002 requiring the following organisations to process information: NHS Digital, NHS England 

and Improvement, health organisations, arm’s length bodies, local authorities, GPs. These notices require 

that data is shared for purposes of coronavirus (COVID-19), and give health organisations and local 

authorities the security and confidence to share the data they need to respond to coronavirus (COVID-

19).   

These can be found here https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-

notification-of-data-controllers-to-share-information 

The data sharing permissions under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the statement of the Information 

Commissioner all apply. Under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) and the Contingency Planning 

Regulations, Category 1 and 2 responders have a duty to share information with other Category 1 and 2 

responders.  This is required for those responders to fulfil their duties under the CCA. 

 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-notification-of-data-controllers-to-share-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-notification-of-data-controllers-to-share-information


  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

30 

 

Appendix 4. BwD OMH ESCALATION AND SYSTEM ARCHITECHTURE  

The process flow from Tier 2 (PBCT) to Tier 1 (SPOC PHE/Tier 1 Hub). 
 

 Tier 2 Call Handler identifies issue that meets the criteria or otherwise requires further investigation or 

management. 

 Tier 2 Call Handler liaises with Tier 2 Team Lead. 

 Tier 2 Team Lead assesses and determines if escalation required.  

 If escalation required, contact Tier 1 Team Lead for relevant area. 

 
The criteria for Tier 2 to declare a complex or high risk setting and pass to Tier 1: 
 

a) Cases where liaison with an educational/childcare setting or employer may be required. 
 

 Cases who have attended educational/childcare setting while infectious  

 Cases who have attended work while infectious and who are unable to identify their contacts who will require 

follow up 

b) Complex setting or settings potentially requiring consequence management. 
 

 Case living or working in care home/long-term care facility or other care facility for those with complex needs  

 Cases in Healthcare workers 

 Cases in Emergency Services workers  

 Cases in Border Force and Immigration Officers  

 Cases who attended healthcare for non COVID reasons  

 Cases in those living or working in prison or other places of detention 

 Cases in those attending or working in special schools 

 Cases in those living in homeless hostels or shelters or refuges and similar residential settings 

 Cases attending day-care centres for older/vulnerable people  

 Cases with concerns about deductive disclosure 

 Cases where contacts can’t be identified without disclosure of name to employer or other third party 

 Cases or employers unwilling to provide information  

c) Consequence management scenarios. 
 

 Identified impact on local public sector services or critical national infrastructure (e.g. power plants) due to 

high proportion of staff quarantining (e.g. school that informs Tier 2 that will have to close as all staff 

quarantining) 

 Cases or contacts who are unable to comply with restrictions (homeless, complex social issues etc.) 

 Likely Media or political concerns/interest 

d) Increase in disease frequency or severity. 
 

 Second or subsequent cases in school class (small number of children taught together). 

 Reported high absenteeism rate in school or workplace. 

 Reported high levels of hospitalisations 

Page 46



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

31 

 

 

P
age 47



  Issue 1.1 
July 2020 

 

32 

 

Appendix 5. SUMMARY OF REGULATORY POWERS 

1. This is for guidance only and does not claim to address all powers available.  Specific legal advice will 
be sought in any given scenario. 

 
2. The LRF Legal Cell have determined that the following pieces of legislation are relevant to enforcement 

in the pandemic, and the LRF Test & Trace Sub-Group have highlighted those having particular 
relevance to tracing in blue: 

 
a. Coronavirus Act 2020 

Section 10 and Schedule 8 – Mental health and capacity  
Section 51 and Schedule 21 - Potentially infectious persons 
Section 52 and Schedule 22- Powers relating to events, gatherings and premises 

 
b. Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) Regulations 2020  as amended 

Regulation 4 - Requirement to close premises and businesses during the emergency 
Regulation 5 - Further restrictions and closures during the emergency period 
Regulation 6 - Restrictions on Movement 
Regulation 7 - Restrictions on Gatherings 

 
c. Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 

 
d. Health Protection (Part 2A Orders) Regulations 2010 

 
e. Health Protection (Notification) Regulations 2010 

 
f. Health Protection (Local Authority Powers) Regulations 2010  

 
g. Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 

 
h. Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 
3. The exercising of any powers must be necessary and proportionate, and with due consideration of: 

 
a. European Convention on Human Rights 

 
b. Human Rights Act 1998 

 
c. Discrimination and Equality Act 2010 

 
 
 

version2Rapidrevie

w.docx
 

 

Page 48



EBD: V1/16 Page 1 of 7 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

REPORT OF:  
 

Executive Member for Finance and Governance 

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Finance and Customer Services 
  
 

DATE: 13 August 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO/S 
AFFECTED:  
 

All                                     

WARD/S AFFECTED: All                                                                 

KEY DECISION: YES      NO    

 

SUBJECT: CORPORATE  CAPITAL BUDGET AND BALANCE SHEET MONITORING REPORT 
2020/21 – Quarter 1 (3 months to 30th June 2020) 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
To report the overall financial position of the Council in respect of the capital programme as at 30th June 
2020, highlighting key issues and explaining variations in the first 3 months of the financial year. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
The Executive Board is asked; 

 to approve the revised capital programme as per Appendix 1,  

 to approve the variations to the programme shown in Appendix 2 
 

 

3. BACKGROUND 
All portfolios are required to examine their capital budget position on a monthly basis. 
 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 
a) The total cost of the Council’s capital investment programme for 2020/21 has now increased from 
£33.930 million, as approved by Finance Council on 24th February 2020, to £36.967 million. The net 
variation of £3.037 million (detailed in Appendix 2) reflects; 

 An increase of £9.225 million in respect of variations to the programme following the finalisation 
of the outturn position for 2019/20, 

 Variations made to reflect the approval of schemes during the first quarter of the year, including 
an increase of £0.267 million (of which £0.037 million is funded from reallocation of budgets 
within the existing 2020/21 programme) 

 further variations during the first quarter of the year, for which approval is requested (£6.418 
million) 

 
b) As at 30th June 2020, the capital expenditure across the portfolios was £1.571 million (representing 
4.2% of the current, revised projected capital spend). 
 
c) The estimated of capital receipts expected in 2020/21 is £4.2 million; £319,799 has been received in 
the first three months of the year. Page 49

Agenda Item 8.2



EBD: V1/16 Page 2 of 7 

 
 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
The information contained within the report accords with the capital strategy and the three year budget 
forecast within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-23, as approved at Finance Council on 24th 
February 2020. 
 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 

The variations in actual spend and resource availability for 2020/21 are summarised by portfolio in 
Appendix 1. Variations in spending are set out in Appendix 2. 
 
Since the Capital Programme for 2020/21 was approved by Finance Council on 24th February 2020, it 
has increased by £3.037 million; £9.225 million of this relates to variations reported in the 2019/20 
outturn report presented to Executive Board in July. The other main points to note are as follows: 
 
6.1.1 New Approved Capital Schemes 
 
Several capital schemes (new schemes and amendments to existing schemes) were approved in the 
first quarter of 2020/21 and have now been added to the capital programme as follows: 

Scheme Amount  Approved By Date 
Approved 

 Children’s, Young People and Education 

Appletrees Building Work £37,000 Delegated Officer 
Decision 

3-Apr-20 

 Finance and Governance 

3-7 Blakey Moor – funded from 
Corporate Property Investment Fund 
earmarked scheme 

£230,000 Executive Member 
Decision 

21-Feb-20 

 
6.1.2 Adults and Prevention Services 

 

Disabled Facilities Grant and Telecare Project Scheme 

The above schemes have been decreased by £1,022,000 and £160,000 respectively, to reflect the 

actual allocation received from central government for 2020/21. 

  

6.1.3 Children’s Young People & Education 

 

Disabled Facilities Grant 

As for the Adults scheme above, the Disabled Facilities Grant scheme within the Children’s portfolio 

has also been decreased, by £263,000 to reflect the actual allocation received from government for 

2020/21. 

 

Appletrees Building Work 

Approval was obtained for building works at Appletrees of £37,000 in an Officer Decision on 3 April 

2020. Since work has commenced variations to the scope of works have been requested by the client, 

which will provide betterment for the end user. As a result of these variations an increase of £16,000 is 

requested to the budget for this scheme. 

 Page 50



EBD: V1/16 Page 3 of 7 

Capital Allocations for Schools 

The Capital Allocations for Schools has been amended to reflect the actual allocation of £1,098,000 to 

be received for 2020/21 from central government.  

In addition, there has been a further reduction of £465,000 in respect of the amount of devolved formula 

capital funding which has been directly allocated to the schools through a transfer to revenue at the 

end of 2019/20. The scheme by scheme breakdown of the schools capital programme is yet to be 

agreed.  

 

6.1.4 Growth and Development 

 

Local Transport Plan 

Variations to the Local Transport Plan budget are listed in the table below.  

 S106 contributions should only be utilised upon their receipt, and the adjustments below reflect 

this.  

 Additional Capital Grant funding has been received in respect of Pothole funding and Emergency 

Active Travel Fund totalling £1.34 million.  

 

Approval is sought to add these schemes to the approved Local Transport Plan capital programme for 

2020/2021. 

Variations to the programme - increases £’000s 

New DFT Pothole funding 1,265 

DFT Emergency Active Travel Fund increases 75 

Scheme Increases in respect of S106 Contributions  

S106 School Lane, Guide – Executive Board Report 12-Mar-20 1 

S106 Yew Tree Drive – Executive Board Report 12-Mar-20 400 

S106 Spring Meadows – Executive Board Report 12-Mar-20 200 

Other increases   

Main programme borrowing – Executive Board Report 12-Mar-20 715 

Bus Station bond – Executive Board Report 12-Mar-20 410 

Total increases  3,066 

Variations to the programme - decreases  

Pay back of main programme funding in 2019/20 and rephasing of grant 

drawdowns 

(2,317) 

Scheme Decreases in respect of S106 Contributions  

S106 Cranberry Lane – contribution utilised in previous years (156) 

S106 Gib Lane Phase A – contribution utilised in previous years (36) 

S106 Gib Lane Phase C – to be utilised in revenue budget (20) 

S106 Roe Lee – Only £150,000 to be utilised in 2020/21 (700) 

S106 Pole Lane North – Only £150,000 to be utilised in 2020/21 (400) 

Total decreases (3,629) 

Total net variations (563) 

 

Neighbourhood Intervention Fund 

Capital receipts of £98,000 have been recycled back into the scheme and a request is made to increase 

the scheme by this value. 

 Page 51



EBD: V1/16 Page 4 of 7 

 

Assistance to Industry 

The Assistance to Industry scheme has been decreased by £150,000 to reflect the agreed scheme 

budget for the year. 

 

6.1.5 Earmarked Schemes 

 
Vehicle Purchase 
Following approval by Executive Board in August 2019, vehicles were purchased in Quarter 1 and then 
sold and leased back by the Council; as such they will now be funded through revenue rather than main 
programme borrowing. Approval is now therefore requested for a reduction in the programme of 
£920,000 to reflect the change in the financing mechanism.  
 
6.2 CAPITAL RECEIPTS 

Actual capital receipts in Quarter 1 were £319,799. All of these receipts will be utilised in support of the 
Minimum Revenue Provision. 

 
6.3 BALANCE SHEET POSITION 

 
6.3.1 Overview 
Good balance sheet management assists in the effective use and control over the Council’s assets and 
liabilities. Key assets comprise of the Council’s tangible fixed assets, debtors, investments and bank 
balances. Key liabilities include long and short-term borrowing, creditors and reserves.  
 
6.3.2 Non-current Assets 

Tangible non-current assets include property, plant and equipment held by the Council for use in the 
production or supply of goods and services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes.  Property 
assets are the responsibility of the Finance and Governance portfolio.  One fifth of all assets are re-
valued every year, and annual reviews are undertaken to establish whether any impairment or other 
adjustments need to be applied.  New assets and enhancements to existing assets are managed by 
way of the capital programme, as reported in Appendix 1. 
 
6.3.3 Borrowing and Investments    

Long-term borrowing requirements flow from the capital programme. Regular dialogue and meetings 
take place between the Director of Finance and Customer Services, her staff and the Council’s 
independent treasury consultants Arlingclose, and options for optimising borrowing requirements are 
actively reviewed.  

Both short and long term borrowing interest rates were at low levels at the end of the period, but had 
fluctuated significantly over the course of the first quarter of the year. Following the cuts in the Bank of 
England Bank Rate in March 2020, interest rates on investments have fallen significantly. To date, it is 
now projected that:  

(a) MRP will be £76,000 higher than anticipated in the original 2020/21 estimates (as a result of 
lower capital receipts at 2019/20 outturn), 

(b) There will be no interest or dividends on our investment in the Local Education Partnership (LEP) 
companies, (original estimate of £100,000), as agreed as part of sale of these investments, 

(c) It is currently anticipated that the income on treasury investments will be lower than the original 
budget as a result of the fall in interest rates, 

Page 52



EBD: V1/16 Page 5 of 7 

(d) It is also anticipated that the debt interest payable, in particular interest paid on short term 
borrowings, will be lower than the original budget, due to current, low level of interest rates on 
borrowing and changes in the cash flow profile, 

(e) It is difficult to quantify the anticipated losses on treasury interest income and savings on short 
term borrowing interest costs at this time due to fluctuating interest rates and constantly changing 
cash flow profiles. 

Interest and Debt Repayments Revenue Budget 

 Original Budget Movement  
Quarter 1 

Current Budget 

Quarter 1 

Interest and investment income (215,000) 100,000 (115,000) 

Debt interest payable 12,990,200 - 12,990,200 

MRP 6,835,000 76,000 6,911,000 

Total 19,610,200 176,000 19,786,200 

 
The current borrowing and investment position is as follows: 
 
 Amounts at 

30/06/20 

£000 

Amounts at 

31/03/20 

£000 

Short term borrowing 84,000 84,000 

Long term borrowing 149,915 149,915 

Transferred debt re Local Government Reorganisation 14,148 14,148 

Recognition of debt re PFI arrangements 62,961 63,414 

TOTAL BORROWING 311,024 311,477 

Investments made by the Council 46,623 57,453 

 

The totals include the debt recognised on the balance sheet as a result of accounting adjustments in 
respect of bringing the BSF school buildings in to use, which are financed through PFI 
arrangements.  These adjustments are made to ensure that the Council’s effective control over, and 
use of, these assets is recognised with corresponding adjustments to the debt.  These changes do not 
add to the costs faced by the Council Tax payer as the actual capital costs for these schools form part 
of the ongoing stream of payments made to the PFI contractor (which are in turn largely offset by PFI 
grant funding from the Government). 
 
6.3.4 Debtors 
The Council has a corporate debt policy, as well as other specific policies for the management of debt 
in the key areas of council tax, business rates and housing benefit overpayments. The table below 
summarises the collection performance of the various debts and the total outstanding debt in the 
respective areas at 30th June 2020. The table also shows the corresponding level of debt at the same 
point in the last financial year. 
 

Page 53



EBD: V1/16 Page 6 of 7 

 
Position at 

30/06/2020 

Position at 

30/06/2019 

Council tax    

Current year balance (£000) 48,435 48,256 

Previous year arrears (£000) 14,443 13,123 

Total Council tax balances 62,878 61,379 

Collection rates  26.1% 25.3% 

Business rates    

Current year balance (£000) 25,029 31,259 

Previous year arrears (£000) 3,236 2,932 

Total Business rates balances 28,265 34,191 

Collection rates 13.5% 31.9% 

Housing Benefit    

Overpayments balances (£000) 2,119 2,880 

 

The Business Rates collection rate has been significantly affected by the measures taken by both 

central government and the council, to support businesses in the borough through the COVID 

pandemic. To allow businesses sufficient breathing space from April to June, the council took the 

decision that it would not request direct debit payments, and instead it would recalculate all Business 

Rate bills with the instalments reprofiled over the period from July to March.  

 

In addition, the council has also offered the option to any struggling businesses, to make contact with 

the Finance Team and in many instances, as a result, instalment plans have been introduced for the 

payment of their invoices relating to the April to June period. 

 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
The Council has a duty to ensure it can deliver a balanced budget. The Local Government Act 2003 
imposes a duty on an authority to monitor its budgets during the year and consider what action to take 
if a potential deterioration is identified. 
 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
None. 
 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
Please select one of the options below.  Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the 
EIA. 
 
Option 1    Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed. 

 
Option 2    In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated 
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)  
 
Option 3    In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment) Page 54



EBD: V1/16 Page 7 of 7 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
None 
 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted 
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following 
the meeting. 

 

 

VERSION: V1.0 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Jody Spencer-Anforth (Ext 507748)    Julie Jewson (Ext 5893) 

DATE: 2020 

BACKGROUND 

PAPER: 

N/A 

 

Page 55



Overall Capital Monitoring  2020/21

Approved 

Programme 

2020/20

Variations 

(Approved in 

Capital Outturn 

Report for 

2019/2020 at Exec 

Board July 2020)

Requested 

Variations  

2020/2021 (See 

Appendix 2)

Revised 2020/21 

Capital 

Programme As at 

30th June 2020

Approved 

Programme 

2021/22 and 

future Years

Variations 

(Approved in 

Capital Outturn 

Report for 

2019/2020 at Exec 

Board July 2020)

Requested 

Variations 

2021/2022 (See 

Appendix 2)

Revised Future 

Capital 

Programme As At 

30 June 2020

(Finance Council) (Finance Council)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Costs

Adults and Prevention Services 2,796 277 (1,182) 1,891 5,000 0 (1,772) 3,228

Children, Young People & Education 7,237 3,518 (4,630) 6,125 12,750 3,300 (10,474) 5,576

Environmental Services 1,929 32 0 1,961 0 0 0 0

Public Health & Wellbeing 0 23 0 23 0 0 0 0

Growth & Development 17,781 4,073 (606) 21,248 300 0 0 300

Digital & Customer Services 697 1,025 0 1,722 0 0 0 0

Finance & Governance 3,490 277 230 3,997 0 0 0 0

Total Predicted Expenditure 33,930 9,225 (6,188) 36,967 18,050 3,300 (12,246) 9,104

Resources

- Department for Education 5,461 3,131 (4,367) 4,225 10,000 0 (10,000) 0

- Department for Transport 3,299 2,268 146 5,713 0 0 0 0

- Disabled Facilities Grants 3,322 534 (1,445) 2,411 6,000 0 (2,246) 3,754

- Other Grants 2,093 (909) 9 1,193 0 0 0 0

Government Grants 14,175 5,024 (5,657) 13,542 16,000 0 (12,246) 3,754

Unsupported Borrowing 9,804 3,696 (550) 12,950 300 0 0 300

External Contributions 6,601 515 323 7,439 0 0 0 0

Revenue Contributions 3,350 (10) (304) 3,036 1,750 3,300 0 5,050

Total Resources 33,930 9,225 (6,188) 36,967 18,050 3,300 (12,246) 9,104

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Earmarked Schemes

Corporate ICT 3,116 (871) 4 2,249 0 0 0 0

Corporate Property Investment 2,864 2 (230) 2,636 3,000 0 0 3,000

Vehicles (funded from capital or leased) 0 1,272 (920) 352 0 0 0 0

5,980 403 (1,146) 5,237 3,000 0 0 3,000

Contingent Schemes

Asset Management Strategy 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 3,000

0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 3,000

2020/21 2021/22 and Future Years

Page 56



Scheme variations to 2020/21 Capital Programme

2020/21 Capital 

Programme 

Approved By Finance 

Council on 24th 

February 2020

Programme 

Adjustments  

(Slippage/Scheme 

Variations) in Capital 

Outturn for 2019/20 

approved by 

Executive Board 9th 

July 2020

Slippage (to)/from 

future 

years/Reprofiling of 

Budget Requested Variations 

Total Capital 

Programme at 30 

June 2020

Approved 

Programme 21/22 

and Future Years 

Finance Council

Programme 

Adjustments  

(Slippage/Scheme 

Variations) in Capital 

Outturn for 2019/20 

approved by 

Executive Board 9th 

July 2020

Slippage (to)/from 

future 

years/Reprofiling of 

Budget Requested Variations

Total Programme 

21/22 and Future 

Years
£ 000 £'000 £'000 £ 000 £ 000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adults and Prevention Services
Disabled Facilities Grant 2,476 147 0 (1,022) 1,601 5,000 0 0 (2,092) 2,908
Telecare Project 320 130 0 (160) 290 0 0 0 320 320
Blackburn Town Centre Security 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2,796 277 0 (1,182) 1,891 5,000 0 0 (1,772) 3,228

Children, Young People & Education
Disable Facilities Grant 526 397 0 (316) 607 1,000 0 0 (474) 526
Apple Trees Building Works 0 0 0 53 53 0 0 0 0 0
Two Year Old Grant 214 0 0 0 214 0 0 0 0 0
Schools capital programme
Capital allocations 5,000 1,853 0 (4,367) 2,486 10,000 0 0 (10,000) 0
St Barnabas and St St Pauls 0 232 0 0 232 0 0 0 0 0
Newfield ASD Demolition 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Audley Infant and Junior - New Heating System 247 (2) 0 0 245 0 0 0 0 0
Audley Junior - Roofing Works 0 34 0 0 34 0 0 0 0 0
Roe Lee Park - Classroom Works 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0
Audley Childrens Centre 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Avondale Kitchen 0 113 0 0 113 0 0 0 0 0
Feniscowles Heating 0 96 0 0 96 0 0 0 0 0
Shadsworth Infants - Heating 0 100 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0
Brookhouse Primary - Upgrade Fire Alarm 0 20 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0
Belmont Ramp 0 8 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
St Cuthberts SEND 0 133 0 0 133 0 0 0 0 0
Belmont Drainage and External Painting 0 9 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0
Audley Infants Remodel Reception Class 0 203 0 0 203 0 0 0 0 0
Meadowhead Infants external works and lighting 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Turton/Edgworth Windows 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
BSH/Crosshill SEN 0 300 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0
Turncroft Nursery Boiler 0 28 0 0 28 0 0 0 0 0
Lammack Extension 750 (10) 0 0 740 750 50 0 0 800
Darwen - Additional School Places 500 0 0 0 500 1,000 1,750 0 0 2,750
Longshaw Nursery Relocation 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 1,500
Contingency 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Project Management Fee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7,237 3,518 0 (4,630) 6,125 12,750 3,300 0 (10,474) 5,576

Environmental Services
Old Bank Lane Car Park 78 22 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0
Land Remediation Scheme 101 10 0 0 111 0 0 0 0 0
Purchase of Blue Bins 1,520 0 0 0 1,520 0 0 0 0 0
Blakewater Car Park 230 0 0 0 230 0 0 0 0 0

1,929 32 0 0 1,961 0 0 0 0 0

Public Health & Wellbeing
Witton 3G Pitches 0 23 0 0 23 0 0 0 0 0

0 23 0 0 23 0 0 0 0 0

Growth & Development
Bank Top and Griffin Clearance 186 0 0 0 186 0 0 0 0 0
Group Repair (Inner NW/InnerSE/Darwen) 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0
Neighbourhood Intervention Fund 507 10 0 98 615 0 0 0 0 0
Equity Loans 150 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 0
Empty Homes Cluster 360 0 0 0 360 0 0 0 0 0
Other Acquisition costs 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0
Development Investment Fund 0 41 0 0 41 0 0 0 0 0
Assistance to Industry 300 104 0 (150) 254 300 0 0 0 300
Blakey Moor 2,519 408 0 0 2,927 0 0 0 0 0
Cathedral Quarter Office Block Fit Out 38 0 0 0 38 0 0 0 0 0
Local Transport Plan 4,032 348 9,415 (563) 13,232 0 0 0 0 0
National Productivity Investment Fund - Fabric Borders 450 0 (450) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Growth Deal 3 (Pennine Gateways) 6,300 2,665 (8,965) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Darwen East Corridor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bury Fold Brook 0 14 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0

Birch Hall Ave diversion appraisal 0 52 0 0 52 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 57



Scheme variations to 2020/21 Capital Programme

2020/21 Capital 

Programme 

Approved By Finance 

Council on 24th 

February 2020

Programme 

Adjustments  

(Slippage/Scheme 

Variations) in Capital 

Outturn for 2019/20 

approved by 

Executive Board 9th 

July 2020

Slippage (to)/from 

future 

years/Reprofiling of 

Budget Requested Variations 

Total Capital 

Programme at 30 

June 2020

Approved 

Programme 21/22 

and Future Years 

Finance Council

Programme 

Adjustments  

(Slippage/Scheme 

Variations) in Capital 

Outturn for 2019/20 

approved by 

Executive Board 9th 

July 2020

Slippage (to)/from 

future 

years/Reprofiling of 

Budget Requested Variations

Total Programme 

21/22 and Future 

Years
£ 000 £'000 £'000 £ 000 £ 000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Reel Cinema 2,171 322 0 0 2,493 0 0 0 0 0
Land Release Fund 655 28 0 0 683 0 0 0 0 0
Refurbishment  Loans 80 0 0 0 80 0 0 0 0 0
Affordable Warmth Grants 0 11 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0
Pottery Farm Alleviation 0 10 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0

Pallet Farm Environment Grant 0 9 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0

Waterfall Study 0 26 0 0 26 0 0 0 0 0
Surface Water Modelling 20 25 0 0 45 0 0 0 0 0
Green Arms Rd FAS Turton 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 0
Grimshaw Park FAS Blackburn 0 0 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 0

17,781 4,073 0 (606) 21,248 300 0 0 0 300

Digital & Customer Services
Corporate ICT - Montr & Mgmt, service systems & op 0 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Digitisation of Planning Service 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Finance System 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Desktop Refresh 136 (32) 0 0 104 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Core Infrastructure Programme 170 60 0 0 230 0 0 0 0 0
Coprorate ICT - Ticketing System KGH/DLT 55 25 0 0 80 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Legal Services Case Management System 50 51 0 0 101 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Corporate Website 60 46 0 0 106 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Replacement Unix Servers 4 3 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate ICT - Protocol Mobile App Project 2 4 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0
Coprorate ICT - Microsoft Office 365 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Coporate ICT - Town Hall IT Infrastructure Upgrade 220 0 0 0 220 0 0 0 0 0
Coporate ICT - Digital Customer Portal 0 809 0 0 809 0 0 0 0 0
Coporate ICT - Reablement System 0 50 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0

697 1,025 0 0 1,722 0 0 0 0 0

Finance & Governance
Carbon Management Plan 70 (3) 0 0 67 0 0 0 0 0
Griffin Lodge 300 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Accommodation Strategy Phase 2 3,120 (190) 0 0 2,930 0 0 0 0 0
15a Town Hall Street roofing 0 178 0 0 178 0 0 0 0 0
Darwen Town Hall Reroofing 0 292 0 0 292 0 0 0 0 0
Purchase of 3-7 Blakey Moor 0 0 0 230 230 0 0 0 0 0

3,490 277 0 230 3,997 0 0 0 0 0

Portfolios Total 33,930 9,225 0 (6,188) 36,967 18,050 3,300 0 (12,246) 9,104

Earmarked schemes:

Corporate ICT 3,116 (871) 0 4 2,249 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate Property Investment 2,864 2 0 (230) 2,636 3,000 0 0 0 3,000

Vehicles (funded from capital or leased) 0 1,272 0 (920) 352 0 0 0 0 0

Total 5,980 403 0 (1,146) 5,237 3,000 0 0 0 3,000

Contingent schemes:

Asset Management Strategy 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 3,000

Total 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 3,000

P
age 58


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 9th July 2020
	3 Declarations of Interest
	8.1 Blackburn with Darwen COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan
	Appendix 1- Local Outbreak Management Plan

	8.2 Corporate Capital Budget and Balance Sheet Monitoring Report 2020/21 - Quarter 1
	Copy of QTR 1 2020-21 Capital Monitoring Appendix 1
	Copy of QTR 1 2020-21 Capital Monitoring Appendix 2


